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Tradition. Tradition is who you are, what you

believe in and where you come from. At Kansas

City Life Insurance Company, we build on the 

traditions of generations of strong leaders, loyal

and hardworking associates and the belief that

what we provide is one of the greatest benefits

available today. 

Part of our strength is location. Kansas City is

in the heart of the Midwest – a region known for

its strong values and sense of community. The

city’s wealth of traditions is nationally known…

jazz, The Plaza, The American Royal…not to

mention the reputation for a hardy Midwestern

work ethic and a brand of friendliness that is well

remembered by all who visit. Kansas City is the

ideal home for Kansas City Life and its 

subsidiaries to serve policyholders throughout 

the nation. 

While building from the past, Kansas City Life

continues to look forward. The Company consis-

tently looks for new ways to help clients make

the most of their assets and provide a secure

future for their loved ones. We continue to grow

while maintaining what sets us apart – an 

unwavering strength of purpose and an 

unsurpassed desire to provide the best products

and service to our clients.  

"We review the past, not in order to return to it,

but that we may find in what direction it points to

the future." – Calvin Coolidge

Kansas City — A City of Tradition
Kansas City isn’t just a 

cow town anymore.

Almost 150 years after the 

pioneers left the Missouri 

River and headed west, 

Kansas City has grown 

and become a center 

for commerce and 

entertainment. No 

matter what you fancy, 

from sports to art to music 

to some of the finest 

barbecue around, 

Kansas City has it all.
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Kansas City Life Insurance Company

Kansas City Life Insurance Company was founded in 1895 in Kansas City, Missouri. Throughout 
its history, the company has focused on providing quality products and services for its customers. With
approximately 1,000 agents serving 48 states and Washington D.C., Kansas City Life provides financial
security for individuals, families, small businesses and corporations across the nation. The Company’s
portfolio includes individual, group, variable and interest sensitive and traditional products. Various
subsidiaries provide additional, specialized services to a wide range of clients.

Sunset Life Insurance Company

Founded in 1937 in Olympia, Washington, Sunset Life Insurance Company of America has served policyholders

throughout the western United States. The company was purchased by Kansas City Life in 1974 and during 1999 its 

operations were consolidated into KCL’s company headquarters in Kansas City. Presently, the Company is focusing on 

building a national presence. Sunset Life currently is licensed to sell in 35 states and serves several European countries 

as well. 
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Old American Insurance Company

Founded in 1939 in Kansas City, Old American Insurance Company provides final arrangements insurance, income

replacement insurance and charitable giving insurance to senior individuals age 50 to 85. Old American was

purchased by Kansas City Life in 1991 and its operations consolidated with those of the parent company in 1992. The 

company is licensed in 42 states and serves approximately 270,000 policyholders across the United States.

Sunset Financial Services, Inc.

Originally purchased by Sunset Life in 1968, Sunset Financial Services’ ownership was transferred to Kansas City Life

and the broker-dealer moved to Kansas City in 1995. Approximately 700 registered representatives, largely consisting of

Kansas City Life and Sunset Life agents, offer variable annuities, variable life, survivorship variable universal life, mutual

funds, stocks and bonds and asset management programs to individuals and families.

SFS

Securities offered through Sunset Financial Services, Inc., 3520 Broadway, Kansas City, MO 64111, 816•753•7000 (OSJ), Member NASD and SIPC. 
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The past year was rewarding, but quite difficult as
well. We lost my father, past President and Vice Chairman
of Kansas City Life, Walter E. Bixby, in September. While
this was a major loss for all of us in personal and 
professional terms, we persevered and achieved solid 
performance for the year.

Operating earnings per share improved 6 percent in
1999 to a new record level. Net income per share declined 
6 percent as realized investment gains fell significantly due
to rising interest rates during the year. These results are
reviewed in detail by operating segment in the
Management’s Discussion portion of this report.

Sales growth slowed slightly from last year’s record level.
Despite the decline, 1999 annualized new premiums
remained 42 percent above those of three years ago. Our
variable products, both universal life and annuities, 
generated this performance. From its introduction five 
years ago, the variable line has grown to represent more than
half of our $134 million of new annualized premiums this
past year. In addition, these products provided nearly one-
fourth of the Company’s total direct statutory premiums in
1999. This growth must continue and expand if we are to
achieve the critical mass necessary to compete effectively in
this line of business. The variable line has generated 
$260 million in assets thus far. Sales of traditional individual
life products and non-variable universal life and flexible
annuity products declined as consumer preferences 

continued to shift toward variable products. Group insurance 
sales were level overall year to year, but new group life 
premiums rose by half. This is significant since group life
products offer the widest margins of the major group 
products. Additional insight into our marketing efforts and
direction are provided in the Marketing Operations 
comments immediately following this message.

We accomplished the integration of Sunset Life’s 
operations into our home office efficiently and on schedule.
During the fourth quarter, the annualized target expense
reductions of $2 to $3 million emerged. We also sought to
maintain, if not enhance, Sunset’s excellent record of 
service to its policyholders and sales agents. Sunset’s sales
slowed during the transition as would be anticipated, but are
expected to rebound in the coming year. Sunset’s home
office building in Olympia, Washington, was sold for a 
$1.3 million profit.

Investment income increased slightly reflecting an
improved investment portfolio yield. The rise in interest rates
during the year contributed to this improvement but also
caused the securities portfolio’s market value to decline, thus
generating sizable unrealized losses by year end. Investment
margins expanded slightly in our interest sensitive products.
Our investment performance and philosophy are discussed
further in the Investment Operations section of this report.

In April 1999, Kansas City Life filed an application with
the Office of Thrift Supervision for permission to organize a

Strong leadership . . .

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CEO



President and CEO Phil Bixby’s 

leadership of Kansas City Life and its

subsidiaries is based on the same 

principle that the Company has 

followed for more than 105 years...to

provide security to families and 

businesses during their time of need.  

5 

federal savings bank. This initiative was a result of our 
continuing efforts to provide our agents and customers with
an expanding array of financial products and services,
including secured and unsecured consumer loans and
insured transaction and time deposit accounts. The new 
entity was named Generations Bank and is expected to open
during the summer of 2000. The choice of the name
Generations Bank reflects the tradition and trust embodied
within the Kansas City Life family of agents, customers and
associates. Our ability to offer banking services will contribute 
to an ever greater platform for meeting the needs of our 
customers throughout their lifetimes.

In preparation for the delivery of an expanding set of
services, we are employing new technologies to learn more
about our customers and improve upon the management of
our customer relationships. Specifically, we are in the
process of enhancing the customer perspective of our infor-
mation systems and broadening our telephone and Internet
customer service options. These capabilities will enable more
efficient marketing and provide the foundation for improved
services to our more than 2,500 agents and 650,000 policy-
holders throughout the nation.

In January 2000, the Board of Directors raised the divi-
dend to an indicated annual rate of $1.00 a share, a $.04 a
share increase. The dividend was increased for the eleventh
consecutive year with the dividend per share more than dou-
bling over this period. The Board, in recognizing the intrinsic

value of our stock at current market prices, extended the
Company’s stock repurchase program by authorizing the pur-
chase of up to one million of our shares in the open market
over the next year. Kansas City Life acquired 260,500 shares
of its stock for $10.2 million in 1999 under this program.

Francis P. Lemery, Senior Vice President and Actuary,
retired this past year after 37 years of service to Kansas City
Life. His contributions to the Company were many. Fran
served as a Director since 1985 and headed our actuarial,
new business and group areas at the time of his retirement. 

Walt Bixby’s counsel, compassion and humor will be
sorely missed by our family of associates and agents and 
the community at large. He led the Company to record 
levels of sales, earnings and insurance in force during his
tenure as President. A man with a complex mind that sought
simplicity, his influence will live on in the fabric of our lives
and in Kansas City Life’s future accomplishments.

This report primarily addresses our financial results. 
But let us never forget that the dedication and ability of our
people, our associates and agents, are our true assets, our
true capital. Their strong contributions and service, combined
with a clear vision of our goal, ensure future success and
financial strength.

R. Philip Bixby
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Kansas City Life

Insurance Company

again finished with

strong sales figures.

Overall results for

1999 were second

only to 1998.

Consolidated results were up 42 percent from 

three years ago, while variable product results 

doubled in 1998 and rose 10 percent during 1999.

Product 

Additions to the product portfolio in the last 

several years helped foster growth during 1999. 

Kansas City Life introduced a Century II Survivorship 
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The Chiefs and barbecue. . .



* A prospectus containing complete information, including charges and expenses, can be obtained by calling 800-616-3670. Please read
the prospectus carefully before you invest or send money.
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Variable Universal Life* product in the summer of 1997. 

The SVUL product contributed a significant portion of the 

Company’s variable business during the year, with total

variable sales reaching 69 percent of the parent company’s

overall sales. The Company introduced its non-variable

Survivorship Universal Life product in August of 1999 and

anticipates increased sales in the future.

Strong sales led to a milestone for Kansas City Life. The

Company increased qualifiers by more than 59 percent for

the Million Dollar Round Table, an international organiza-

tion that sets the standard for excellence among life and

health insurance producers.

Group  

Group sales experienced positive results in 1999, with

several product lines posting significant increases. Life and

dental were up notably and the vision product, introduced

in 1997, showed promising results for the year. The medical

stop loss line was discontinued late in the year. This 

impacted sales results; and, without stop loss, 1999 group

sales were up 12 percent. Also in the past year, the

Administrative Services Only area came under new 

management. The Company is optimistic this change will

lead to improved ASO efficiency and service in 2000.

A sea of red and the smoke of barbecue 

greets all who enter the city on a Chiefs 

game day. Since moving to Kansas City 

in 1963, the Chiefs have been a 

Kansas City institution. Combined with 

Kansas Citians’ zest for barbecue and 

tail-gating, Chiefs games are an 

event not to be missed.



Sunset Financial Services, Inc.

Sunset Financial Services continues to expand its

scope. Growth in number of registered representatives to 

approximately 700 has led to increased production

and, most significantly, the development of a marketing

department formed specifically to provide training, new

products and sales support.

History . . .
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While thousands of settlers traveled

west on the Santa Fe Trail from

Independence, Mo., many of them

decided to make the Kansas City area

their home. The one-room Lanesfield

School, located in eastern Johnson

County, Kansas, opened in 1869 with

classes from late September through

April to accommodate planting and 

harvest time. Currently, the school is 

on the National Register of Historic

Places and offers programs showing

children what it would be like to 

attend school in the early 1900s.

* A prospectus containing complete information, including charges and expenses, can be obtained by calling 800-616-3670. Please read
the prospectus carefully before you invest or send money.

In addition to the marketing initiative, Sunset Financial 

Services also added three new fund managers and seven

new subaccounts to the Century II product line.* In keeping

with the technological trends, the Company developed a

digital prospectus for representatives to use at the point of

sale and also made headway in the development of an

extranet designed exclusively for registered representatives.

Expected to launch during the first half of 2000, the

extranet will provide a valuable service to representatives.

Access to client files, the latest market updates and other

options will be part of the service.

Looking forward

The year 2000 promises to be a year of firsts for 

Kansas City Life. The Company has filed an application

to open a bank with the name Generations Bank. Most of

the preliminary requirements were accomplished in 1999,

and the Company hopes to open for business mid-2000.

Also on the agenda for 2000 are more ventures into 

electronic commerce. The Company’s web site is up and

running and an extranet for Kansas City Life agents also is

planned for 2000. 
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Fountains . . .

Investment Department Goals

As stated in prior annual reports, our investment 

philosophy is:

(1) To maintain a high-quality portfolio that minimizes 
the risk of principal loss;

(2) To obtain the best return on investment for the 
given amount of risk assumed by constantly 
analyzing a variety of markets; and

(3) To maintain equilibrium between the market values 
and maturities of the Company’s liabilities and the 
market values and maturities of the assets which 
support them.

Income and Asset Growth

Net investment income for the year was $202.0 million
compared to $197.3 million in 1998, an increase of 2.4 percent.
This compares with a 2.2 percent increase for the prior year.
Gross investment income increased by 3.1 percent while invest-
ment expenses increased by 12.4 percent. Investment assets for
1999 were $2.781 billion, a decrease of $110.8 million or 
3.8 percent. Most of this decrease was attributable to the 

depreciation of securities on that portion of the securities 
portfolio which is marked-to-market under the provisions of
FASB No. 115. Excluding the mark-to-market adjustments,
investment assets increased by 2.1 percent. The net yield on the
portfolio increased by 11 basis points, rising from 7.20 percent
to 7.31 percent. The effect on the portfolio of changes in interest
rates during the year is more fully discussed in the section 
entitled Investment Activity, Securities Division.

Financial Markets

Surging equity markets and falling bond markets dominated
financial headlines in 1999. Continued strong U.S. economic
growth fueled investor and consumer confidence, pushing the
current business expansion to within a few months of an all-time
record duration. Investors seemed to shrug off the tumultuous
events of 1998 and pushed all the major stock indexes into
record territory as the year came to a close. The Dow Jones
Industrial Average, the S&P 500 and the Russell 2000 stood at
all-time records on December 31, but it was the astounding 
performance of the NASDAQ Composite Index that literally 
rewrote the record books. Driven by high technology and 
computer shares, the NASDAQ posted a one year increase of 

INVESTMENT OPERATIONS 
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In any part of Kansas City 

you'll see fountains...on The Plaza,

downtown, in local parks and 

in front of hotels and office 

buildings. Many of the city's 

fountains honor those who serve 

the public or notable founding 

fathers whose contributions have 

made Kansas City a quality place 

to live, work and raise a family. 

In addition to all its other 

attributes, Kansas City 

truly is a "city of fountains." 

85.6 percent with more than half the gain coming in the final quarter.
In stark contrast to the gains in equities, bond markets 

posted one of its worst performances in a generation. Bond 
market total returns were the worst since 1994, and the second
worst since 1973. One of the poorest performing assets in any
sector was the long-dated U.S. Treasury bond, which lost 
14.8 percent of its value inclusive of coupon payments. In 
1998, when world stock markets plunged as skittish investors
fled from all manner of investment risk for the relative safety 
of government bonds, U.S. interest rates fell dramatically.

Since the price of bonds is inversely related to yield, bond
markets soared. However, stock markets recovered in 1999, 
and the capital that entered the bond market began to leave,
hastened by the allure of high returns in technology stocks and
the Federal Reserve Open Market Committee’s (FOMC) actions
to raise short-term interest rates. Corporate high-grade bonds
also suffered, losing 1.9 percent of their value. high yield bonds
and mortgage backed securities also posted poor, if at least 
positive, results for the year. The one bright spot in fixed income
was emerging market bonds, which soared 23.6 percent for the
year, in part on the strength of recoveries in Latin America.

American corporations again raised record amounts of new 
capital in 1999. Total underwriting of stocks and bonds

approached $2.1 trillion, matching the all-time record set in
1998. More than anything, Wall Street’s appetite for capital
resulted from the dramatic capital spending needs of the “new
economy” firms, especially the Internet, telecommunications and
other high technology companies. The number of Initial Public
Offerings (IPO’s) in the technology sector jumped to 136 in the
fourth quarter, more than triple the amount from the first quarter
of the year. Reflecting investors’ almost maniacal interest in this
sector, many of these IPO’s set records for first day performance
in after-market trading. Of the 25 biggest single day increases in
IPO stock prices, 24 occurred during 1999. Even though market
prices of debt faltered most of the year, investors still displayed a
healthy demand for new bond issuance. Altogether, corporations
sold more than $750 billion in investment grade bonds during
1999, an increase of 5 percent over the previous year.

Investment banks may have been the biggest beneficiaries
of the surge in market activity; fees earned by Wall Street under-
writers set an all-time record, totaling more than $122 billion.

The FOMC raised interest rates three times in 1999, pushing
the targeted Federal Funds rate from 4.75 percent to 
5.50 percent in an effort to unwind the interest rate reductions
implemented during the international financial crisis of 1998.
Citing the strength in wage increases due to high job growth and



low unemployment, FOMC Chairman Alan Greenspan stressed
the FOMC’s concern that inflationary pressures will continue to
build throughout the American economy. However, the
Chairman also noted that productivity growth seems to have
mitigated much of the effect of higher wages and reported infla-
tion, as measured by the Consumer Price Index, remains very
low. As the year drew to a close, the FOMC alerted the markets
to the possibility of future rate increases as long as economic
activity remains robust.

Investment Activity, 
Securities Division

Marketable securities accounted for 80.5 percent of the
invested assets of the Company at year end 1999, up 1 percent
from 1998. Due to the rapid increase in interest rates during 
the year, the market value of the securities portfolio fell 
$179 million in relation to its book value, and book value
exceeded market value by $87 million at year end. The market
value to book value ratio of securities available for sale under
FASB No. 115 stood at 96.1 percent. Our portfolio’s effective
duration, it’s measure of price sensitivity with respect to changes

in interest rates, fell from 4.85 last year to approximately 4.75
this year. Portfolio convexity, a measure of a bond’s gain poten-
tial versus its loss potential for a given change in interest rates,
improved from +.23 last year to +.38 this year.

Credit risk in the portfolio, on average, did not change 
significantly in 1999, although the distribution of risks skewed
more toward a barbell structure. Investment grade securities
comprise just over 90 percent of the portfolio, down slightly
from 92 percent last year. However, highly rated “AAA” bonds
are up 2 percent, from 18 percent of the portfolio last year to 
20 percent this year.

Securities rated “BB,” the highest quality rating of non-
investment grade bonds, also increased by 2 percent, from 
5 percent to 7 percent of the portfolio. Most other rating 
categories remained virtually unchanged, leaving the average
portfolio rating at “A.” Kansas City Life continues to employ
INVESCO as manager of its high yield bond portfolio. At year
end, the portfolio had a market value of just over $47 million
and a book yield of 9.78 percent, as compared to $52 million
and 9.28 percent last year. The market value to book value 
ratio for the high yield portfolio is similar to that of the overall
portfolio.

12

Jazz . . .

INVESTMENT OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
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On any weekend, in any part of the 

city, you will find jazz musicians 

playing to a captivated audience. 

Since the days of Prohibition, jazz 

has been part of the heart and soul 

of Kansas City. The annual Blues 

and Jazz Festival draws music 

lovers to midtown Kansas City to 

sway with the music. The historic 

18th and Vine district was a jazz 

hot spot in the decades before 

desegregation and has been 

renovated to its former glory.

Kansas City Life has tracked the total returns on its
securities portfolio since 1994. Our portfolio return again
exceeded the index portfolio (Merrill Lynch’s high-grade port-
folio consisting of corporate, mortgage backed and government
bonds) by more than 25 basis points. Our internally managed
portfolio’s total return, which includes unrealized as well as 
realized gains on our securities, has exceeded the Merrill Lynch
index in five of the last six years.

Internally managed funds represent 96 percent of portfolio
assets. The externally managed funds, which includes the high
yield portfolio managed by INVESCO as well as the Mesirow
limited partnerships, performed exceedingly well during 1999.
High yield bonds were among the best performing sectors of the
fixed income market, and the Mesirow partnerships benefited
from the strong performance of the equity markets, offsetting to 
a certain extent the poor performance of government bonds
specifically and the high-grade bond markets generally.

Our securities division continued to pursue its strategy of
maximizing total returns in fixed income investments, subject to
the constraints of current cash income and our Asset-Liability
Management program. In our direct reserve portfolios (the assets

specifically assigned to cover policyholder claims), we upgraded
the quality of our holdings in the face of rising interest rates and
a disturbing trend in bond market default rates. We increased
our holdings of government agency bonds, and added to our
holdings of secured equipment trusts and secured first mortgage
utility bonds. The effective duration shortened modestly, as 
interest rates increased and we continued our purchases of
highly convex put option bonds. These bonds give Kansas City
Life the ability to redeem our holdings early and reinvest the
proceeds at higher rates if market conditions permit. In our 
capital and surplus accounts, we continued to emphasize con-
vertible bond and preferred stock purchases in investment grade
and “BB” rated issuers. These securities provide stable income
and a limited downside loss potential while still allowing the
investor to participate in stock market appreciation potential.
Bonds and preferred stock also carry much lower risk-based 
capital charges than direct common stock ownership.

Emerging market holdings fell to $15 million from nearly
$28 million in 1998. Overall, foreign bond exposure is down 
to less than 3 percent of total assets. All emerging market 
obligations are payable in U.S. dollars.



Investment Activity, 
Mortgage Division

At year end, mortgage loans totaled $340.7 million, up
$25.0 million from the prior year and up $70.7 million from 
two years earlier. Mortgage loans represent 11.9 percent of 
our investment portfolio, versus 11.3 percent for 1998. For the
life insurance industry as a whole, mortgage loans represented  
8.0 percent of their portfolios last year. The market value of the
mortgage loan portfolio was less than its
book value at year end by $11.7 million,
versus an excess of $16.7 million in the
prior year.

At the beginning of the year, there
were 12 mortgage loan commitments out-
standing which totaled $14.0 million.
During the year, 49 loan commitments
were issued which totaled $61.3 million
and 51 loans totaling $61.9 million were
funded. There were 3 mortgage loan com-
mitments outstanding at year end which
totaled $3.4 million. This was a decrease 

from the prior year of $10.9 million in mortgage loans funded. 
Approximately a third of all new money during 1999 went into
mortgage loans. This better than average level of loan production
was surprising in view of the rising interest rate environment. It
is not anticipated that the year 2000 loan production will be as
favorable due to the higher level of interest rates.

Investment Activity, 
Real Estate Division

Real estate owned outright totaled $42.0 million at year
end, a decrease of $1.8 million during the year. The decrease
was due to the sale of five properties which were acquired
through foreclosure. These sales will be discussed in the next
paragraph. Partially offsetting the decrease was the continued
investment in the development of industrial warehouses in Tulsa.
During the year, $4.8 million was directed toward completing
the five warehouses under construction which total 300,000
square feet. Approximately $200,000 will be required to com-
plete construction. These warehouses, along with two existing
warehouses which total 196,600 square feet, and a number of
vacant lots and tracts will result in a total investment of 

Mortgages
comprise
12.3% 
of our
invested
assets.

Real estate
comprises
2.9% 
of our
invested
assets.

Securities
comprise
79.9% 
of our
invested
assets.
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The Arts. . .

INVESTMENT OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
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The Nelson-Atkins Museum of Art 

illustrates Kansas City’s love of fine art.

Opened in 1933 as a gift to the 

community from William Rockhill

Nelson, the museum is the crown 

jewel of the city’s artistic heritage. 

Many national exhibitions are 

featured at the museum as well as 

its magnificent collection of Asian art.

Kansas City also boasts smaller 

museums and galleries, the 

symphony, ballet, concert venues,

live theatre and the newly opened 

Science City at Union Station.

approximately $15.4 million. The overall occupancy level for
the properties is 84 percent.

In addition, real estate owned indirectly through joint ven-
tures totaled $37.3 million, a decrease of $2.1 million during
the year. Most of this decrease was caused by the amortization
of the cost basis of affordable housing tax credit projects 
purchased in prior years. Real estate owned outright and
through joint ventures totaled a little less than 3 percent of our
investment portfolio, which is approximately 2 percentage
points higher than the average for the life insurance industry.

During the year we acquired no properties through fore-
closure or voluntary conveyance. We sold five commercial 
properties which had been acquired through voluntary con-
veyance or foreclosure and the sales produced a gain of 
$.7 million based upon original cost. In addition, valuation
reserves of $1.0 million were released by these sales and this
increased the gain based upon original cost. In addition, net 
valuation reserves of $.3 million were released on other existing
properties during the year as a result of increases in their market
values. The ongoing program of marketing foreclosed properties
will continue in 2000, though only five properties with a cost

basis of $6.1 million remain to be sold. We also sold one 
commercial lot in Tulsa with a gain of $.4 million.

Net income from real estate totaled $6.2 million, an
increase of $.2 million over the prior year. The yield on the 
overall real estate portfolio was 15.7 percent versus last year’s
14.5 percent. The highest yield was generated by our shopping
centers which earned $.8 million more than their book value.
The lowest yield was the 2.6 percent earned on our industrial
warehouse development in Tulsa.

Portfolio Quality, Securities

The chart below depicts the percentage of the Company’s
bond and preferred stock assets in each rating category.

Securities Portfolio Quality
(Bonds and preferred stock)

AAA — 20%

AA — 10%

A — 31%

BBB — 29%

BB — 7%

Other — 3%



16

The Country Club Plaza . . .

Investment grade securities (those rated “BBB” or higher) com-
prise 90 percent of the portfolio, down slightly from the previous
year. Average portfolio quality held steady, as increases in “BB”
rated securities were offset by increases in “AAA” government
and agency bonds. The percentage in “BBB” rated bonds
dropped as well, leaving the average portfolio rating at “A.” The
allocation to the high yield account managed by INVESCO
decreased slightly, from $54 million to $49 million. Our position
in emerging market bonds dropped again and now represents
less than 1 percent of assets.

Three bonds defaulted in 1999. The first occurred in June
when TBS Shipping (TBS), one of the holdings in the INVESCO
account, entered Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. Kansas
City Life owns $1 million par amount of its senior bonds which
are secured by liens against the firm’s shipping assets. As of year
end, TBS and its creditors were nearing agreement on terms of 
a restructuring agreement and the bonds were written down to
an estimated settlement level, resulting in a charge of just
$300,000. The second bond to default was Fruit of the Loom
(FTL), which entered bankruptcy on December 29th. We own
approximately $7.5 million par in senior notes secured by liens
against FTL’s domestic assets. FTL has indicated that it will con-

tinue to pay interest when due on its senior notes, and its junior
notes and equity still trade with significant market values.
Kansas City Life has not reduced the carrying value of these
securities. However, if FTL fails to keep current all interest due,
or if market conditions change significantly to indicate an other-
than-temporary impairment to ultimate recovery value, a write
down will be taken at that time. Finally, Kansas City Life held
just over $2 million of subordinated convertible bonds in
Integrated Health Services (IHS), a home health care provider.
IHS entered restructuring negotiations with senior bondholders
in November. Since our position was subordinated and unlikely
to see any substantial recovery, this investment was written off
entirely, resulting in a charge of approximately $1.5 million plus
some accrued interest.

In 1998, Kansas City Life held two investments in distressed
or restructuring firms:  Montgomery Ward and Buenos Aires
Embotteladora, or BAESA. The remaining Montgomery Ward
bonds were sold in the third quarter. At year end, we still hold
our position in BAESA. BAESA has been acquired by Quilmes, 
a Latin American beverage company. The BAESA bonds have
been tendered back to the company for a settlement in the first
quarter of 2000.

INVESTMENT OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)
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A Kansas City landmark since 1922, 

The Country Club Plaza is the nation’s

first suburban shopping district. With 

its Spanish style architecture, fountains

and sculptures, the Plaza draws 

visitors from around the world. On

Thanksgiving, hundreds of thousands 

of spectators fill the streets to celebrate

the annual Plaza Lighting Ceremony.

Portfolio Quality, Mortgages

The farm mortgage loan portfolio totaled $.6 million at 
year end with no delinquent loans and one loan in the 
process of foreclosure. The commercial loan portfolio totaled
$340.1 million with no delinquencies and one loan for 
$1.0 million in the process of foreclosure. The loans in fore-
closure represented 0.4 percent of our mortgage loan portfolio
compared with the industry average of 0.3 percent. The amount 

of our farm and commercial mortgage loans which have been 
restructured decreased by $3.6 million during the year to 
$1.9 million. The mortgage loan reserve was decreased by 
$1.5 million based upon minimal delinquency problems. At
year end it stood at $7.0 million. The mortgage loan reserve 
represents 2.0 percent of the loan portfolio.

Our mortgage loans at year end were concentrated in the
Midwest, the Sunbelt and the Northwest. Our greatest concen-
tration of commercial loans was in the states of California with
33 percent, Minnesota with 7 percent, and Texas with 6 percent.
Industrial properties represented 66 percent of the outstanding
mortgage loans, followed by office building loans with 
24 percent, and retail loans with 6 percent.

Portfolio Quality, Real Estate

At year end, our commercial properties, which had been
acquired through voluntary conveyance or mortgage loan 
foreclosures, included three shopping centers and two office
buildings. These properties had an original cost of $6.1 million
and their current market value approximates this amount.
Valuation reserves of $1.5 million have been set up for these
properties in prior years and will be recognized as gain at the
time of their sale.

The quality of our real estate portfolio continues to 
improve in line with the real estate market as a whole. Rents in
many markets continue to climb as vacancy levels trend lower. 
If these trends continue through 2000 we plan to reduce our
holdings of foreclosed properties to no more than two properties
at year end. At the end of 1999, the estimated market value of
the entire real estate portfolio was at least $40 million in excess
of its carrying value. Most of the appreciation was attributable to
our investments in shopping centers located in Arizona and
California.
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Sound Management . . .

J.R. Bixby
Chairman of the Board
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

R. Philip Bixby
Vice Chairman of the Board and 
President and CEO
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Walter E. Bixby III, LLIF
President
Old American Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Richard L. Finn, CPA, FLMI
Senior Vice President, Finance
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Webb R. Gilmore
Attorney at Law
Chairman, CEO, Shareholder
Gilmore and Bell, P.C.
Kansas City, Missouri

Jack D. Hayes, CLU, ChFC
Senior Vice President, Marketing
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Nancy Bixby Hudson
Investor
Lander, Wyoming

Warren J. Hunzicker, M.D.
Retired Vice President 
and Medical Director
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Daryl D. Jensen, MAAA, FLMI
Vice Chairman of the Board 
Sunset Life Insurance Company 
of America
Kansas City, Missouri

C. John Malacarne
Vice President, General Counsel 
and Secretary
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Kansas City, Missouri

Michael J. Ross
Chairman of the Board
Jefferson Bank and Trust Company
St. Louis, Missouri

Elizabeth T. Solberg
Regional President 
and Senior Partner
Fleishman-Hillard, Inc.
Kansas City, Missouri

E. Larry Winn Jr.
Retired Congressman
Kansas Third District
Prairie Village, Kansas

Charles R. Duffy Jr.
Senior Vice President

Operations

Richard L. Finn
Senior Vice President

Finance
Jack D. Hayes

Senior Vice President
Marketing

BOARD OF DIRECTORS — KANSAS CITY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY



19 

Robert C. Miller
Senior Vice President

Administrative Services

C. John Malacarne
Vice President

General Counsel 
and Secretary

KANSAS CITY LIFE
INSURANCE COMPANY

R. Philip Bixby
Vice Chairman of the Board and 
President and CEO

Charles R. Duffy Jr., FLMI
Senior Vice President, Operations

Richard L. Finn, CPA, FLMI
Senior Vice President, Finance

Jack D. Hayes, CLU, ChFC
Senior Vice President, Marketing

Robert C. Miller
Senior Vice President, 
Administrative Services

Bret L. Benham, CLU, ChFC
Vice President, Agency Marketing

W.G. Burnett, CLU, ChFC
Vice President, Marketing Services

Robert T. Carson, FLMI, LLIF
Vice President and 
Chief Compliance Officer

Peter Hathaway, M.D.
Vice President and Medical Director

Michael P. Horton, CLU
Vice President, Group

John K. Koetting, CPA, FLMI
Vice President and Controller

C. John Malacarne
Vice President, General Counsel 
and Secretary

Robert J. Milroy
Vice President, Policy Administration

Mark A. Milton, FSA
Vice President and Actuary

J. Todd Salash 
Vice President, 
Computer Information Services

William W. Sears
Vice President, Insurance Services

Gregory E. Smith, CFA
Vice President, Broker/Dealer

Scott M. Stone
Vice President, Securities

Barney D. White, CPA
Vice President, Taxes

OLD AMERICAN 
INSURANCE COMPANY

Walter E. Bixby III, LLIF
President

Andrew M. Hansen
Executive Vice President

Richard L. Finn, CPA, FLMI
Vice President, Chief Financial  
Officer and Assistant Treasurer

Gary K. Hoffman, CLU, FLMI
Vice President, Associate General 
Counsel and Assistant Secretary

James J. Holmes
Vice President/
National Sales Manager

Robert E. Janes
Vice President and Controller

Robert J. Milroy
Vice President, 
Policy Administration

C. John Malacarne
Secretary

SUNSET LIFE 
INSURANCE COMPANY

R. Philip Bixby
President and CEO

H. Dann Harris
Senior Vice President,
Marketing and Sales

Paul W. Hensley, CLU, ChFC, 
Vice President, 
Marketing Administration

David A. Laird, CPA, FLMI
Vice President and Controller

Robert J. Milroy
Vice President, Policy Administration
and Assistant Secretary

Mark A. Milton, FSA
Vice President and Actuary

William W. Sears
Vice President, Insurance Services

C. John Malacarne
Secretary

SENIOR OFFICERS

Kansas City Life Insurance 

Company’s Senior Management 

team helps determine the 

direction and focus for the 

Company in all aspects. 

Strengthened by wide ranges 

of backgrounds and years 

of experience in the 

insurance industry, the group 

leads the way with strong 

ideas and fresh perspectives 

on how to best meet the 

needs of our policyholders.



20

WEST
REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT:
JOHN J. COSTELLO

C A L I F O R N I A

Camarillo............................Gerald L. Clark, CLU, ChFC
Fremont ................................................Russell E. Pierce
Fresno....................................Robert G. Warren, LUTCF
Pasadena .....................Steven B. Yamashiro, CLU, ChFC
San Diego.............................................James E. Chilton
San Jose................................................Manuel R. Naku
Westlake Village .....................................David S. Siegel 

O R E G O N

Hermiston ..............................Larry E. Simmons, LUTCF

WA S H I N G TO N

Bellevue/Spokane ............McNease/Barrett & Associates

SOUTHWEST REGION
REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT:
ANDREW A. THOMAS, CLU, ChFC, LLIF

A R I Z O N A

Phoenix ...................................Randolf J. Albers, LUTCF
Scottsdale ......................................Raymond S. McLeod

C O L O R A D O

Denver .......................................The Rowe Agency, Inc.
Greeley..........................Charles L. Cooper, LUTCF, CFP

O K L A H O M A

Bixby .............................................Michael W. Partridge
Tulsa ...............................................Mark S. Farquhar Sr.

T E X A S

Amarillo .................................................Jon M. Hackler
Austin ...........................................Smith-Burson Agency
Denton .......................................James E. Scribner, CLU
McKinney ..................................................John K. Jones
Plano...............................................Archer D. Bonnema
Plano.......................................William E. Hudson, CLU
Richardson................................William R. Ponder, CLU
San Antonio ............................................David R. Barse
The Woodlands................Rod M. Schulken, CLU, ChFC

U TA H

Alpine ...................R. Michael Whittenburg, CLU, ChFC
Salt Lake City .....................Steven G. Chapman, LUTCF
Salt Lake City..........................................Simper Agency 

MIDWEST REGION
REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT:
DONALD E. KREBS, CLU, ChFC, FLMI

I L L I N O I S

Alton .............................................F. Tom Lewis, LUTCF
Chicago ...............Willis Corroon Corporation of Illinois
Monmouth .....................Robert S. Makiney, CLU, ChFC
Palatine .......................................Bruce E. Robbins, CFP
Quincy ..................................William R. Hoffman, CLU

I N D I A N A
Indianapolis ........................................Dennis D. Parrish
Highland .....................................................Javier Bravo

I O WA

Johnston...............Arthur L. Dinkin, CLU, ChFC, LUTCF
Marion ............................David W. Verhille, CLU, ChFC

K A N S A S

Independence ....................................Arthur H. Ashcraft
Overland Park .......................Steve F. Mankameyer, CFP
Overland Park.............................Ivan F. Whiteford, CLU
Salina...........................................Shari S. Walls, LUTCF
Shawnee ..........................................Gary J. Foreman Sr.
Topeka ..................................Scott B. Hunsicker, LUTCF

K E N T U C K Y

Louisville...............................Clifton E. Bratcher, LUTCF

M I C H I G A N

Three Oaks.........................................Dennis M. Grosse

M I N N E S OTA

Minneapolis....................................Peter J. Ludwig, CFP

M I S S O U R I

Columbia...................................................James P. Ford
Columbia ...............................................James E. Meyer
Kansas City ............................................Baron Financial
Kansas City.........................Larry L. Quigley, CLU, FLMI
St. Louis.............................Robert A. Carter, CLU, ChFC
St. Louis .............................Richard D. Haberstroh, CLU
Springfield........................................Morris Agency, Inc.
Trenton..................................Ronald F. Dougan, LUTCF

N E B R A S K A

Omaha......................................John J. Meneely, LUTCF
Omaha............................................Kerns/Porter Agency

O H I O

Cincinnati ..........................................Ronald L. Buckley
Cleveland...........................................Charles M. Levine
Middleburg ...............................Craft/Thompson Agency
North Royalton.......................Joseph J. Hutman, LUTCF

W I S C O N S I N

Milwaukee .................................................Milton Sogol
Stevens Point .....................................Ronald D. Walters

SOUTH REGION
REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT:
GARRY L. WAKEFIELD

A R K A N S A S

Fayetteville .....................Chaney Insurance Agency, Inc.

F L O R I DA

Miami ..............................................Jack L. Richie, CLU
Mulberry ......................Phillip D. Hughes, CLU, LUTCF
Orange Park .........Jeffrey M. Camarda, CLU, ChFC, CFP
Tallahassee ...............Marcus R. Winchester, CLU, ChFC
Tampa...........................Lawrence I. French, CLU, ChFC

G E O R G I A

Valdosta........................................ H. Wayne Bius, CLU
L O U I S I A N A

Baton Rouge............................Johnny D. Rosier, LUTCF
Ruston..........................................J.D. Crawford, LUTCF
Shreveport ...........................................William E. Foster

N O R T H  C A R O L I N A

Cary .................................................Herbert H. Council
High Point .................Ted E. Killingsworth, CLU, LUTCF
Wilmington ......................William J. Kelly, CLU, LUTCF
Winston-Salem................James D. Arnold, CLU, LUTCF

S O U T H  C A R O L I N A

Beaufort .....................................W. Ellis Hamm, LUTCF

T E N N E S S E E

Germantown.........................Thomas E. Cooper, LUTCF
Knoxville ..............................................Douglas W. Guy

EAST REGION
REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT:
P. CHRISTOPHER FOXWELL, PFP

M A I N E

Portland ...............................James J. Tyrrell, CLU, ChFC

M A R Y L A N D

Frederick ...................................Robert L. Gardner, CLU

M A S S AC H U S E T T S

Natick............................Stephen C. Olsson, CLU, ChFC

P E N N S Y LVA N I A

Boothwyn ..........................Ronald A. Bouchard, LUTCF
Doylestown .................................................John P. King
Mars ..........................................Howard R. Utz, LUTCF
Wyomissing...............................David W. Ruoff, LUTCF

R H O D E  I S L A N D

Providence...............................................David J. Scotti

V I R G I N I A

Richmond....................................David B. Wilson, CLU
Roanoke ...................................................John C. Brake
Virginia Beach.........................................Bruce J. Meyer

W E S T  V I R G I N I A

Charleston ................................................Charles F. Fox

ASIAN MARKET
FIELD VICE PRESIDENT, ASIAN MARKETING:
KI HONG PARK

C A L I F O R N I A

LaMirada ........................................................Hyoo Kim
Pasadena............................Felicisimo “Junn” O. Aquino
Santa Clara .................................................Do Shin Lee

T E X A S

Dallas .........................................................Kevin K. Lee

SPECIAL MARKETS
ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT, AGENGY 
DEVELOPMENT/MARKETING FINANCE:
JAMES R. WILCOX, FLMI

Joliet, IL ................................................OrganizAmerica
Kansas City, MO ..............................The Lewer Agency

AGENCIES — KANSAS CITY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY



Management’s Discussion ............................ 22
Selected Financial Data ............................... 24
Financial Statements .................................... 28
Notes to These Statements  ........................... 32
Report of Independent Auditors .................... 43

   Stockholder Information ...............................   44

21

To Our Stockholders

Management prepared the following consolidated financial statements and all other
financial information included in this Annual Report and is responsible for its integrity,
consistency and objectivity. In preparing these statements, management necessarily made
certain estimates and judgments and selected accounting principles in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances.

The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls and procedures to
provide reasonable assurance, at an appropriate cost, that its assets are protected and that
its financial transactions are properly authorized and recorded. Qualified personnel in the
Company maintain and monitor these internal controls on an ongoing basis.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed solely of outside directors,
meets annually and, as required, with the independent auditors, management and the
internal auditors. Each has free and separate access to the committee. The committee
reviews audit procedures, scope and findings, and the adequacy of the Company’s
financial reporting.

The independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, are elected by the Board of Directors to
audit the financial statements and render an opinion thereon.

                                                                                  Richard L. Finn
                                                                                        Senior Vice President, Finance

FINANCIAL SECTION

  Contents:



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION
and analysis of financial condition and results of operations

               Operating Results
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Operating income per share climbed steadily over the
past three years, from $2.86 a share in 1997 to $3.32 in
1998 to $3.51 in 1999. However, 1997’s earnings were
below trend due to less favorable mortality experience at
the affiliates and adverse claims experience in the home
health care block of business which was sold in 1998. Thus
1996’s operating earnings of $3.26 a share offers a more
comparable base year. Net income per share varied over
the three-year period as realized investment gains fluctuated.
Net income per share rose from $3.63 a share in
1997 to $3.92 in 1998 and then declined to $3.66 in 1999.
Return on equity averaged 9.05 percent over the three
years while the pretax operating profit margin averaged
11.9 percent.

Kansas City Life’s performance is best analyzed by
reviewing each of the Company’s operating segments.
However, corporate-wide factors are discussed first, namely
investments, operating expenses and income taxes.

Investment earnings increased 2 percent each of the
past two years. Over this period the net return on the
investment portfolio declined slightly from 7.40 percent to
7.31 percent as yields lost through maturities, repayments
and sales exceeded those acquired through new invest-
ments. However, investment margins on the interest
sensitive products improved this year after narrowing
significantly in 1998. Rising interest rates in 1999 lowered
the securities’ market value thus contributing to the
substantial reduction in realized investment gains and a
significant unrealized loss on those securities valued at
market in the financial statements. Investments, on an
amortized cost basis, grew 2 percent each of the past
two years. This year’s net new investments, totaling
$63.7 million, focused primarily on bonds. The new money
available for investment was provided by $69.5 million of
borrowed funds. The average yield on new investments
equaled 7.86 percent, contrasted with 7.53 percent the
previous year. Approximately 90 percent of the securities
portfolio is investment grade compared to 96 percent in
1997. The Company has assumed added risk as manage-
ment seeks to improve yields while being adequately
compensated for the additional risk. Securities delinquen-
cies and defaults represent just 0.3 percent of the securities

portfolio. The mortgage portfolio consists of loans on
commercial properties, largely industrial warehouses,
dispersed throughout the nation, except in the Northeast.
A third of the properties are situated on the West Coast.
Currently 0.4 percent of the mortgage portfolio is in
foreclosure, slightly above the industry average. Restruc-
tured mortgage loans comprise 0.5 percent of the mortgage
portfolio. Five properties acquired through foreclosure
were sold during the year for a $1.1 million gain, net of
tax. The Company currently holds five such properties
valued at $4.7 million, the lower of cost or net realizable
value. The estimated fair value of the real estate and joint
venture investments currently exceed their carrying value
by more than $40 million. Also refer to the analysis of
market and interest rate risk later in this discussion.

As chronicled in past reports, Kansas City Life im-
proved efficiency considerably over the past several years.
This trend slowed during 1999 as home office operating
expenses rose 6 percent in the face of declining consoli-
dated statutory premiums, sales and overall insurance
revenues. Expenses rose primarily for two reasons. First,
added costs were incurred, such as consulting, moving and
dual processing, in order to integrate Sunset Life’s opera-
tions into the home office. Second, considerable lump sum
pension payments were incurred due to closing Sunset’s
office and retirements in the home office. Expenses in the
coming year will benefit fully from the $2.0 to $3.0 million
annual savings generated by the Sunset integration effort.
The Company plans to open a Federal savings bank,
Generations Bank, in mid-2000 in order to expand finan-
cial services available to its policyholders and sales agents.
Additionally, new technologies will be developed to
improve the management of customer relationships and to
facilitate cross-marketing of financial products. These new
endeavors are expected to enhance future revenue growth.
Overall home office expenses are anticipated to decline
slightly in the coming year.

The effective income tax rate was essentially un-
changed from 1997 to 1998. The rate rose one percentage
point to 29.7 percent in 1999 due to declining affordable
housing tax credits. The Company has $37.1 million
invested in real estate joint ventures generating such
credits, which provide much of Kansas City Life’s rate
reduction from the 35.0 percent Federal income tax rate.
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The following comments address the financial perfor-
mance of each of the Company’s four reportable operating
segments:  the Parent Company, divided between its
individual and group insurance operations, and each of its
two life insurance affiliates. Refer also to the Segment
Information Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Kansas City Life - Individual

The Company’s individual business includes variable,
interest sensitive and traditional products marketed through
a general agency system. Universal life and annuity
products are offered in both the variable and interest
sensitive lines.

The segment’s sales, in terms of new annualized
premiums, increased 44 percent to a record level in 1998
and then declined 3 percent in 1999. Despite the decline,
this year’s sales remain double those of three years ago.
Sales in the segment have been increasingly dominated by
variable products. Variable sales, both universal life and
annuity, nearly doubled in 1998 and rose 10 percent
further this year. Variable products increased from
47 percent of segment sales in 1997 to 70 percent in 1999,
and provided 41 percent of the segment’s total statutory
premiums. The variable line has generated $260 million in
assets thus far, an 82 percent increase from a year ago.
Sales of non-variable products, principally universal life
and flexible annuities, improved 3 percent in 1998 but
declined 23 percent this year.

Total insurance revenues, including renewal receipts,
rose 24 percent in 1998 and 1 percent in 1999. However,
nearly half of 1998’s growth was due to comparing against
a partial year’s revenues for the acquired block in the
previous year. Life insurance in force increased 2 percent
in 1998 and 4 percent in 1999. This segment generated
three-fourths of consolidated sales and 42 percent of
consolidated insurance revenues this year.

Interest and mortality margins widened in the interest
sensitive and variable blocks of business this year. This
improvement offset considerably more adverse mortality
and persistency in the block of life insurance acquired two
years ago. Benefits ratios in the traditional line deteriorated
somewhat as well due to less favorable mortality. Earnings

in 1998 were impacted by narrowed investment margins in
the interest sensitive lines. This was offset by favorable
mortality experience in the acquired block of business and
in the traditional line. Surrenders, as a percent of cash
values available to be surrendered, remained largely
constant over the three-year period. Total benefits,
including changes in policy reserves, equaled 62 percent of
operating revenues for each of the three years.

Deferred acquisition cost assumptions were unlocked,
or changed, this year largely in recognition of improving
mortality in the interest sensitive lines. This reduced
amortization $4.0 million, thus benefiting earnings.

Insurance operating expenses in the segment declined
3 percent in 1998 before rising 2 percent this year. Over
the past two years insurance revenues rose 25 percent
while insurance operating expenses decreased 1 percent,
generating improved efficiencies.

Reflecting the factors above, operating earnings rose
13 percent and 10 percent in 1998 and 1999, respectively.
Kansas City Life’s individual business generated nearly
three-quarters of consolidated operating income this year.

Kansas City Life - Group

Kansas City Life offers group life, disability and dental
coverage and administrative services only (ASO). New
annualized group premiums and ASO fees declined
10 percent in 1998 but rose 1 percent in 1999. This year’s
growth was restrained by the discontinuation of the stop
loss line as discussed below. Total group insurance
revenues, including renewal premiums and ASO fees,
declined 2 percent in 1998 but rose 1 percent in 1999.
Dental premiums account for 59 percent of group revenues
while group life provides 16 percent, stop loss 10 percent
and ASO 8 percent. Group provided one-fifth of consoli-
dated insurance revenues.

Claims ratios, after remaining unchanged in 1998,
improved slightly in 1999 primarily due to the dental line.
While the overall group claims ratio remains historically
high, two steps were taken this year to improve future
profit performance. First, all existing long-term disability
business was reinsured late in the year. Kansas City Life



  %

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Thousands, except per share data)

                                                                              1999                          1998                         1997                          1996                         1995
Revenues:
  Insurance $11 255 595 259 559 244 695 219 593 205 458
  Investment income, net 202 003 197 302 193 064 186 601 187 981
  Other 13 956 14 671 9 998 9 768 8 882
    Operating revenues $11 471 554 471 532 447 757 415 962 402 321
  Realized investment gains 2 860 11 426 14 505 3 013 4 950

$111474 414 482 958 462 262 418 975 407 271

Operating income $19 043 186 41 085 35 433 40 357 38 521
Realized investment gains, net 1 859 7 427 9 428 1 958 3 217
  Net income $11 145 045 48 512 44 861 42 315 41 738
Per common share:
  Operating income $ 8$22293.51 3.32 2.86 3.26 3.12
  Realized investment gains, net .15 .60 .77 .16 .26
    Net income $ 8$22293.66 3.92 3.63 3.42 3.38

  Cash dividends $ 8$15  1.960 .900 .880 .840 .815
  Stockholders’ equity:
    As reported $ 815  740.86 46.58 42.84 37.40 37.00
    Excluding unrealized
      gains and losses 45.28 42.42 39.90 37.16 34.59

Assets $13 621 284 3 577 414 3 439 452 2 954 710 2 903 768
Net return on invested assets 7.31  7.20 7.40 7.68 8.03
Life insurance in force $26 747 316 26 641 664 26 595 709 22 148 738 21 023 702

The above is not covered by the report of independent auditors.
Per common share earnings information represents both basic and diluted earnings per common share.
Per share data has been adjusted for a two-for-one stock split in June 1999.
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will continue to offer these products with the business
80 percent reinsured and claims processed by the rein-
surer. Second, also late in the year, the stop loss line was
discontinued. Where possible the business will be placed
with a new insurer over the course of 2000 with placement
fees accruing to Kansas City Life. The discontinuation
negatively impacted group sales, so a more representative
view of group sales progress in 1999 should exclude stop
loss. On this basis, group sales rose 12 percent. While
exiting the stop loss market will benefit earnings, group
sales and revenue comparisons next year will be difficult
since the line represented 12 percent of 1999 group sales
and 10 percent of its insurance revenues.

Group operating expenses increased 11 percent and
3 percent in 1998 and 1999, respectively. The increase in
1998 largely reflected added ASO processing costs.

Profit margins expanded slightly this year after deterio-
rating in 1998. Although the bottom line improved during
1999, group continued to generate an operating loss.
However, actions taken this year are expected to benefit
future earnings.

Sunset Life

Sunset Life is primarily a marketer of interest sensitive
products, consisting of universal life and flexible annuities,
to individuals through personal producing general agents.
Sunset’s sales climbed 31 percent in 1998 due to strong
flexible annuity sales. However, this year’s sales fell by half
as the marketing effort was disrupted by the integration
project and the transition to a new senior marketing officer.
Sales are anticipated to improve in 2000 without these
disruptions. As would be expected with the decline in
sales, total insurance revenues declined 7 percent this year
after rising 2 percent in 1998. The segment provided one-
tenth of consolidated insurance revenues.

Benefits as a percentage of operating revenues
improved from 49.1 percent in 1997 to 48.2 percent last
year. However, the ratio deteriorated this year to
50.1 percent due to less favorable mortality experience.
Universal life surrenders remained constant over the three
years as a percent of accumulated values available to be
surrendered. Flexible annuity withdrawals, on this basis,
improved from 16.6 percent of accumulated values last
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year to 13.7 percent this year.

As mentioned previously, Sunset’s operations were
successfully integrated into Kansas City Life’s home office
this year and the targeted expense reductions were
achieved. However, the requisite duplication of staff in
Kansas City and Olympia for a few months, moving costs,
training and added consulting costs associated with the
integration effort caused Sunset’s expenses to rise during
the first nine months of the year. Operating expenses rose
10 percent for the year, but fell 4 percent in the fourth
quarter after the integration was largely complete. Sunset’s
2000 earnings will benefit from a full year’s expense
reduction from the integration effort. Additionally, Sunset’s
home office building in Olympia was sold for a
$1.3 million pretax profit.

Thus decreased operating revenues and narrowed profit
margins caused Sunset’s operating income to decline 10
percent this year. The opposite results caused last year’s
operating income to rise 8 percent. It is anticipated that
improved sales and revenues in 2000, combined with a full
year of expense savings, will increase the segment’s
profitability. As it was, Sunset provided 19 percent of
consolidated operating income.

Old American

Old American offers whole life final expense coverage
in the senior market through a general agency sales force.
Integral to its marketing approach, the Company seeks to
generate reasonably priced, productive sales leads for its
agents. Sales, in terms of annualized premiums, declined
23 percent in 1998. More rigorous underwriting proce-
dures initiated last year dampened sales but should
improve earnings as an ever greater portion of the
insurance in force benefits from these improved under-
writing procedures. Sales were little changed this year. In
order to rejuvenate its marketing results, the Company strove
to enhance its lead generation capability, lower its cost per
lead and expand the sales force. The segment’s insurance
revenues declined 5 percent this year and 2 percent last
year. Old American accounts for one-fourth of consoli-
dated insurance revenues.

Operating expenses declined in 1998 but rose
7 percent in 1999. However, operating expenses remain
below expense goals established when the Company was
purchased. Old American’s administrative systems are fully

integrated with those of Kansas City Life and Sunset Life in
order to maximize economies of scale. The Companies also
share staff functions in order to spread overhead over as
large a book of business as possible.

Old American’s operating earnings improved
75 percent last year since the prior year’s results were
depressed by adverse claims experience, particularly in the
home health care block which was sold during 1998. As a
result of the sale, improved earnings in the accident and
health line in 1999 caused a 4 percent increase in Old
American’s operating earnings. The segment generated one-
eighth of this year’s consolidated operating income.

Market and Interest Rate Risk Analysis

The Kansas City Life Corporate Group holds a diversi-
fied portfolio of investments which includes cash, bonds,
preferred stocks, mortgage-backed securities, commercial
mortgages and real estate. Each of these investments is
subject, in varying degree, to market risks which can affect
its ability to earn a competitive return, which, in turn, affects
its fair value. The majority of these assets are debt instru-
ments and are considered fixed income investments. Thus
the primary market risk affecting the Company is interest rate
risk.

Generally the coupon or dividend income represents
the greatest portion of fixed income instruments’ overall
total return. When interest rates fall, as they have for most of
the past decade, the coupon and dividend streams of older,
higher-paying investments become relatively more valuable
than newer, lower-yielding opportunities. Thus the market
value of the older, higher-paying investments increases. The
opposite effect occurs when interest rates rise. The market
value of such investments varies inversely to market interest
rates.

As interest rates fell in 1998, Kansas City Life’s invest-
ments increased in value, and the securities’ market
value exceeded their book value by $91.7 million. In 1999
the Federal Reserve Open Market Committee began raising
interest rates to reduce the risks of increasing inflation, thus
pushing all interest rates higher and reducing the value of
bonds. At year end the book value of our securities ex-
ceeded market value by $86.7 million, a reversal from the
previous year end.

Due to the complex nature of interest rate movements
and their uneven effects on the value of fixed income



EXPECTED CASH FLOWS
                                                                                                                                                               There-        Total        Fair
                                                                            2000         2001        2002        2003          2004           after       Principal    Value
                                                                                                                                 (dollars in millions)
Corporate bonds currently callable $15 38 49 40 12 79 233 230
  Average interest rate 9.38 10.69 12.16 11.11 10.67 9.14 10.46
Mortgage backed securities and CMO's – – 1 2 1 328 332 324
  Average interest rate – – 7.03 7.11 7.29 6.99 7.00
All other securities 78 75 84 198 102 1 113 1 650 1 645
  Average interest rate 8.66 9.37 7.49 7.52 8.03 8.08 8.06

Total $93 113 134 240 115 1 520 2 215 2 199
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investments, the Company uses sophisticated computer
programs to help predict changes in the value of the
portfolio. Assuming that changes occur equally over the
entire term structure of interest rates (the “yield curve”), it
is estimated that a one percent (or 100 basis point) change
in rates would translate to a $97.0 million ($70.2 million -
1998) change in market value for the $2.3 billion securities
portfolio. Most financial market professionals quantify this
relationship with the term duration, a mathematical
measurement of the sensitivity of investment cash flow to
small changes in market rates. Additionally, the larger
potential gain compared to the potential loss indicates the
portfolio has positive convexity, a term that applies to the
skew in the securities’ value changes.

Kansas City Life manages its investments under the
constraints imposed by an Asset/Liability Management
(ALM) program. The firm’s obligation to policyholders,
mainly represented by the anticipated cash flows paid out
under insurance and annuity contracts, dictates the nature
and construction of the portfolio. The ALM program
attempts to balance the investment opportunities available
in the market place with future cash obligations while
optimizing policyholder returns.

As interest rates rise, policyholders become more likely
to surrender policies or to borrow against the cash value in
order to meet cash needs in an inflationary environment or
to invest in higher yielding opportunities. This disinterme-
diation may force liquidation of parts of the portfolio at a
time when the market value of the fixed income investments
is falling. Due to the strength of the Company’s cash flow, it
can adapt to small sudden changes in interest rates and
large changes over longer periods of time. Extreme sudden
market volatility, however, poses the greatest risk to the
Company. Kansas City Life quantifies and mitigates this risk
under ALM. The Company also maintains a number of
credit lines with the capacity to borrow funds for added
liquidity.

%

%

%

The table shows
expected cash
flows from prin-
cipal repayments
of bonds in the
form of maturities,
calls, sinking funds
and prepayments.

Market changes rarely follow a linear pattern in one
direction for any length of time. Within any diversified
portfolio, an investor will likely find embedded options,
puts and calls, that change the structure of the cash flow
stream. Mortgage-backed securities are particularly
sensitive to interest rate changes. As long-term interest rates
fall, homeowners become more likely to refinance their
mortgages or move up to a larger home, causing a prepay-
ment of the outstanding mortgage principal which must

The Company may hedge this risk with the purchase or
sale of certain derivative contracts, mainly in the form of
caps, floors, swaps or swaptions. These contracts work
mainly as volatility insurance, to provide value in periods of
extreme interest rate movement. Thus their value is largely a
function of the likelihood of a rapid, dramatic market
change. Kansas City Life conducts numerous probability-
based computer simulations to test the effect on our profit-
ability of these market shifts, and to determine the value of
derivative hedging. To date, the Company has not used
derivatives due to a number of factors including pricing,
liquidity and the net value to the Company’s business

then be reinvested at a lower rate. Should interest rates rise
suddenly, prepayments expected by investors may cease,
extending the maturity of a mortgage pool by many years.
This represents a further interest rate risk to investors.

Kansas City Life currently owns $66 million of foreign
bonds, all denominated in dollars, and consequently is not
exposed to any direct foreign currency risk. The Company
has an indirect exposure to exchange markets to the extent
that the issuers of these securities can obtain dollars to fully
fund their obligations. The Company has no material
foreign exposure in its mortgage or real estate holdings.
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position. As a policy, the Company will never engage in the
trading of such instruments for speculative purposes, and
will only enter into derivative markets to hedge a specific,
identifiable risk for a specific period of time under specific
conditions.

Changes in Reporting Regulations

Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and for Hedging Activities,”
provides comprehensive, consistent standards for the
recognition and measurement of derivative and hedging
activities. The standard is effective January 1, 2001, and is
being evaluated for its effect on Kansas City Life and to
ensure its implementation in a timely manner. It is cur-
rently anticipated that the guideline will not have a
significant impact on the Company’s reported results.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners
(NAIC) has issued a comprehensive new guide to statutory
accounting principles for the life insurance industry which
will be effective January 1, 2001. These revised guidelines
have generally been referred to as “codification.” Each
state must ratify these guidelines. Missouri, the Company’s
state of domicile, has not yet adopted codification, but it is
anticipated that it will. While such guidelines do not
impact stockholder reporting, which is based on generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), they govern
accounting practice and procedures required for reporting
to state regulators. Assuming Missouri adopts codification,
Kansas City Life will implement the guidelines as required
and, it is believed, with little impact to statutory surplus.

Y2K Postmortem

Kansas City Life’s Y2K efforts were successful and it is
estimated that the incremental cost of the Company’s
compliance effort was $1.0 million. While this effort
obviously was necessary to allow Kansas City Life to
continue to function effectively in 2000 and beyond, it
also benefited the Company by upgrading systems and
better standardizing administrative systems throughout the
organization.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Life insurers function as generators of investment capital
for our economy. Given this role, liquidity is generally of
little concern, as was the case the past three years. The
Company generated, on average, $36.8 million annually in
funds from operations, net of receipts and withdrawals of
contract deposits. In 1999 this source of funds equaled
$29.6 million. Redemptions, sales and maturities of invest-
ments averaged $751.4 million each year. Kansas City Life
invested an average of $855.2 million a year in the form of
securities, commercial mortgages and real estate ventures.

The above information excludes proceeds from variable
products which were invested in various mutual funds
assigned to separate accounts and segregated from the
general investments. Such funds totaled $260 million this
year end.

The Company borrowed $69.5 million during 1999 to
support investment strategies. No borrowing was required
for operating needs. Forward investment commitments are
minor. Cash flow testing and matching of assets and
liabilities are performed regularly to ensure future cash
flows meet the level and timing of future cash obligations.

Kansas City Life’s statutory equity exceeds the minimum
capital deemed to be required to support its book of
business, as determined by the risk based capital calcula-
tions and guidelines established by the NAIC.

Book value per share, excluding unrealized gains and
losses, equaled $45.28 at this year end and averaged
7 percent annual growth over the three years. In January
2000, the Board of Directors raised the dividend to an
indicated annual rate of $1.00 a share, a $.04 a share
increase. The Board also extended the stock repurchase
program through 2000. An additional one million shares
may be purchased, which would represent 8 percent of the
shares outstanding. Under this program in 1999 the Com-
pany purchased 260,500 of its shares for $10.2 million.



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

                                                                                            1999               1998              1997
REVENUES
Insurance revenues:

Premiums:
Life insurance $104 086) 108 510) 106 051)
Accident and health 42 636) 42 441) 44 931)

Contract charges 108 873) 108 608) 93 713)
Investment revenues:

Investment income, net 202 003) 197 302) 193 064)
Realized investment gains, net 2 860) 11 426) 14 505)

Other 13 956) 14 671) 9 998)

      TOTAL REVENUES 474 414) 482 958) 462 262)

BENEFITS AND EXPENSES
Policy benefits:

Death benefits 110 672) 107 355) 100 037)
Surrenders of life insurance 14 592) 19 368) 14 999)
Other benefits 70 702) 72 190) 71 338)
Increase in benefit and contract reserves 85 206) 84 427) 86 804)

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 31 261) 36 201) 35 712)
Insurance operating expenses 97 918) 95 468) 90 749)

      TOTAL BENEFITS AND EXPENSES 410 351) 415 009) 399 639)

Income before Federal income taxes 64 063) 67 949) 62 623)

Federal income taxes:
Current 21 172) 20 471) 15 073)
Deferred (2 154) (1 034) 2 689)

19 018) 19 437) 17 762)

NET INCOME $145 045) 48 512) 44 861)

Basic and diluted earnings per share $3.66) 3.92) 3.63)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(Thousands, except per share data)



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

                                                                                                                  1999              1998
ASSETS
Investments:

Fixed maturities:
Available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost $2,079,458,000;

$2,012,975,000 - 1998) $1 999 215) 2 094 362)
Held to maturity, at amortized cost (fair value $107,570,000;

$123,515,000 - 1998) 107 606) 115 504)
Equity securities available for sale, at fair value

(cost $122,371,000; $98,509,000 - 1998) 115 968) 100 749)
Mortgage loans on real estate, net 340 704) 315 705)
Real estate, net 42 011) 43 840)
Real estate joint ventures 37 336) 39 388)
Policy loans 118 521) 122 860)
Short-term 19 380) 59 160)

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 2 780 741) 2 891 568)
Cash 22 355) 16 763)
Accrued investment income 43 907) 42 515)
Receivables, net 15 823) 12 997)
Property and equipment, net 22 010) 22 436)
Deferred acquisition costs 236 370) 218 957)
Value of purchased insurance in force 95 636) 104 331)
Reinsurance assets 123 724) 117 772)
Deferred income tax asset 14 716) –)
Other 6 103) 7 067)
Separate account assets 259 899) 143 008)

$3 621 284) 3 577 414)
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Future policy benefits:

Life insurance $ 782 341) 774 701)
Accident and health 47 215) 47 641)

Accumulated contract values 1 688 706) 1 731 262)
Policy and contract claims 34 721) 34 347)
Other policyholders’ funds:

Dividend and coupon accumulations 61 740) 62 726)
Other 90 885) 75 033)

Notes payable 69 500) –)
Income taxes: )

Current 7 870) 4 582)
Deferred –) 43 739)

Other 84 602) 82 442)
Separate account liabilities 259 899) 143 008)

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3 127 479) 2 999 481)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, par value $1.25 per share
Authorized 36,000,000 shares, issued 18,496,680 shares 23 121) 23 121)

Paid in capital 18 498) 17 633)
Retained earnings 614 278) 581 074)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (59 095)  45 466)
Less treasury stock, at cost (6,411,738 shares; 6,087,894 shares - 1998) (102 997) (89 361)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 493 805) 577 933)
$3 621 284) 3 577 414)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

                                                                                              1999              1998               1997

COMMON STOCK, beginning and end of year $ 23 121) 23 121) 23 121)

PAID IN CAPITAL:
Beginning of year 17 633) 16 256) 14 761)
Excess of proceeds over cost of treasury stock sold 865) 1 377) 1 495)

End of year 18 498) 17 633) 16 256)

RETAINED EARNINGS:
Beginning of year 581 074) 543 715) 509 748)
Net income 45 045) 48 512) 44 861)
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains (losses) on securities (104 921) 15 094) 33 485)
Decrease (increase) in unfunded pension liability 360) ––(6 076) –)

Comprehensive income (loss) (59 516) 57 530) 78 346)
Transfer other comprehensive (income) loss to

accumulated other comprehensive income 104 561) (9 018) (33 485)
Stockholder dividends of $.96 per share

($.90 - 1998 and $.88 - 1997) (11 841) (11 153) (10 894)

End of year 614 278) 581 074) 543 715)

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Beginning of year 45 466) 36 448) 2 963)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (104 561) 9 018) 33 485)

End of year (59 095) 45 466) 36 448)

TREASURY STOCK, at cost:
Beginning of year (89 361) (88 946) (87 729)
Cost of 349,087 shares acquired

(24,640 shares - 1998 and 40,180 shares - 1997) (14 094) (1 063) (1 440)
Cost of 32,243 shares sold

(47,296 shares - 1998 and 47,372 shares - 1997) 458) 648) 223)

End of year (102 997) (89 361) (88 946)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $493 805) 577 933) 530 594)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

                                                                                               1999              1998             1997

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $  45 045) 48 512) 44 861)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to

net cash from operating activities:
Amortization of investment premium (discount), net 2 061) 2 398) (1 290)
Depreciation 5 265) 5 153) 5 379)
Policy acquisition costs capitalized (39 553) (46 011) (42 170)
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs 31 261) 36 201) 35 712)
Realized investment gains (2 860) (11 426) (14 505)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Future policy benefits 12 375) 25 855) 16 227)
Accumulated contract values (10 182) (12 264) (9 933)
Other policy liabilities 14 867) 6 842) 7 137)
Income taxes payable and deferred (14 748) (11 399) 4 768)

Other, net  18 449)  (718)  (3 685)

NET CASH PROVIDED  61 980)  43 143)  42 501)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments:

Fixed maturities available for sale (654 943) (644 087) (855 980)
Fixed maturities held to maturity (3 354) –) –)
Equity securities available for sale (43 130) (28 047) (69 434)

Sales of fixed maturities available for sale 406 785) 372 930) 503 351)
Maturities and principal paydowns

of security investments:
Fixed maturities available for sale 173 990) 216 247) 163 867)
Fixed maturities held to maturity 10 913) 30 453) 106 188)
Equity securities available for sale 22 644) 28 043) 31 473)

Purchases of other investments (36 300) (78 298) (152 045)
Sales, maturities and principal

paydowns of other investments (2259 655) 1260 500) 67 295)
Acquisitions and dispositions of insurance

blocks - net cash received (paid) (5 162) (13 250) 213 092)

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) (68 902) (55 509) 7 807)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 95 850) 1 100) 245 050)
Repayment of borrowings (26 350) (1 100) (245 050)
Policyowner contract deposits 148 993) 175 421) 169 699)
Withdrawals of policyowner contract deposits (181 367) (187 028) (163 041)
Cash dividends to stockholders (11 841) (11 153) (10 894)
Disposition (acquisition) of treasury stock, net  (12 771) 962) 278)

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) 12 514) (21 798) (3 958)

Increase (decrease) in cash 5 592) (34 164) 46 350)
Cash at beginning of year 16 763) 50 927) 4 577)

CASH AT END OF YEAR $  22 355) 16 763) 50 927)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



(Amounts in tables are generally stated in thousands, except per share data)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization
Kansas City Life Insurance Company is a Missouri
domiciled stock life insurance company which, with its
affiliates, is licensed to sell insurance products in
49 states and the District of Columbia. The Company
offers a diversified portfolio of individual insurance,
annuity and group products distributed through
numerous general agencies. In recent years, the
Company’s new business activities have been concen-
trated in interest sensitive and variable products.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the basis of accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States (GAAP)
and include the accounts of Kansas City Life Insurance
Company and its subsidiaries, principally Sunset Life
Insurance Company of America (Sunset Life) and Old
American Insurance Company (Old American). Signifi-
cant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain reclassifications have been made
to prior year results to conform with the current year’s
presentation. GAAP requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions which affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Recognition of Revenues
Traditional life insurance products include whole life
insurance, term life insurance and certain annuities.
Premiums for these products are recognized as revenues
when due. Accident and health insurance premiums are
recognized as revenues over the terms of the policies.
Revenues for universal life and flexible annuity products
are amounts assessed against contract values for cost of
insurance, policy administration and surrenders, as well
as amortization of deferred front-end contract charges.

Future Policy Benefits
For traditional life insurance products, reserves have
been computed by a net level premium method based
upon estimates at the time of issue for investment yields,
mortality and withdrawals. These estimates include
provisions for experience less favorable than actually
expected. Investment yield assumptions for new issues
are graded down and range from 7.00 to 5.00 percent.
Mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality
tables. The 1965-70 Select and Ultimate Basic Table is
used for business issued since 1977.

Reserves and claim liabilities for accident and health

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

insurance include estimated unpaid claims and claims
incurred but not reported. For traditional life and
accident and health insurance, benefits and claims are
charged to expense in the period incurred.

Liabilities for universal life and flexible annuity products
represent accumulated contract values, without reduc-
tion for potential surrender charges, and deferred front-
end contract charges which are amortized over the term
of the policies. Benefits and claims are charged to
expense in the period incurred net of related accumu-
lated contract values. Interest on accumulated contract
values is credited to contracts as earned. Crediting rates
for universal life insurance and flexible annuity products
ranged from 3.85 percent to 6.50 percent (3.85 percent
to 7.25 percent during 1998 and 4.75 percent to
6.50 percent during 1997).

Withdrawal assumptions for all products are based on
corporate experience.

Policy Acquisition Costs
The costs of acquiring new business, principally com-
missions, certain policy issue and underwriting expenses
and certain variable agency expenses, are deferred. For
traditional life products, deferred acquisition costs are
amortized in proportion to premium revenues over the
premium-paying period of related policies, using
assumptions consistent with those used in computing
benefit reserves. Acquisition costs for interest sensitive
and variable products are amortized over a period not
exceeding 30 years in proportion to estimated gross
profits arising from interest spreads and charges for
mortality, expenses and surrenders that are expected to
be realized over the term of the contracts. The amortiza-
tion is adjusted retrospectively when estimates of current
or future gross profits to be realized from a block of
business are revised.

Value of Purchased Insurance in Force
The value of purchased insurance in force arising from
the acquisition of a life insurance subsidiary and, in
1997, the acquisition of a block of life insurance
business, is being amortized in proportion to projected
future premium revenues or gross profits. Such amortiza-
tion is included in insurance operating expenses. If these
projections should change, the amortization is adjusted
prospectively. This asset was increased $76,533,000 in
1997 for the acquisition of a life insurance block of
business and $9,313,000 ($9,609,000 - 1998 and
$8,856,000 - 1997) for accrual of interest and reduced
$18,008,000 ($17,194,000 - 1998 and $14,962,000 -
1997) for amortization. The increase for accrual of



interest for the life insurance subsidiary was calculated
using a 13.0 percent interest rate for the life block and
a 7.0 percent rate for the accident and health block
and, on the acquired block, a 7.0 percent interest rate
on the traditional life portion and a
5.4 percent rate on the interest sensitive portion. Total
accumulated accrual of interest and amortization
equal $54,419,000 and $81,615,000, respectively.
Based upon current conditions and assumptions as to
future events, the Company expects that the amortiza-
tion will be between 6 and 8 percent of the asset’s
current carrying amount in each of the next five years.

Separate Accounts
These accounts arise from the sale of variable life
insurance and annuity products. Their assets are
legally segregated and are not subject to the claims
which may arise from any other business of the
Company. These assets are reported at fair value since
the underlying investment risks are assumed by the
policyholders. Therefore the related liabilities are
recorded at amounts equal to the underlying assets.
Investment income and gains or losses arising from
separate accounts accrue directly to the policyholders
and are, therefore, not included in investment earn-
ings in the accompanying consolidated income
statement. Revenues to the Company from separate
accounts consist principally of contract maintenance
charges, administrative fees and mortality and risk
charges.

Participating Policies
Participating business at year end approximates
12 percent of the consolidated life insurance in force.
The amount of dividends to be paid is determined
annually by the Board of Directors. Provision has been
made in the liability for future policy benefits to
allocate amounts to participating policyholders on the
basis of dividend scales contemplated at the time the
policies were issued. Additional provisions have been
made for policyholder dividends in excess of the
original scale which have been declared by the Board
of Directors.

Investments
Securities held to maturity and short-term investments
are stated at cost adjusted for amortization of premium
and accrual of discount. Securities available for sale
are stated at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on
securities available for sale are reduced by deferred
income taxes and related adjustments in deferred
acquisition costs, and are included in accumulated
other comprehensive income.

Mortgage loans are stated at cost adjusted for amorti-
zation of premium and accrual of discount less an
allowance for possible losses. Foreclosed real estate is

stated at fair value at the date of foreclosure (cost) or
net realizable value, whichever is lower. Other real
estate investments are carried at depreciated cost. Real
estate joint ventures are valued at cost adjusted for the
Company’s equity in earnings since acquisition. Policy
loans are carried at cost less payments received. Realized
gains and losses on disposals of investments, determined
by the specific identification method, are included in
investment revenues.

Federal Income Taxes
Income taxes have been provided using the liability
method. Under that method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on the differences
between their financial reporting and their tax bases
and are measured using the enacted tax rates.

Income Per Share
Due to the Company’s capital structure and lack of other
potentially dilutive securities, there is no difference
between basic and diluted earnings per common share for
any of the years or periods reported. The weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the year was
12,316,220 shares (12,394,104 shares - 1998 and
12,381,586 shares - 1997).

Statutory Information and
   Stockholder Dividends Restriction
The Company’s earnings, unassigned surplus (retained
earnings) and stockholders’ equity, on the statutory basis
used to report to regulatory authorities, follow.

                                                      1999         1998         1997
Net gain (loss) from operations
    for the year $(41 902) 35 185) (21 214)

Net income (loss) for the year (42 012) 36 152) (18 681)

Unassigned surplus
    at December 31 281 254) 257 853) 246 717)

Stockholders’ equity
    at December 31 219 875) 209 246) 197 147)

The statutory loss reported in 1997 arose from the acquisi-
tion of a block of business as discussed in a following
Note. In accordance with statutory accounting guidelines
for coinsurance transactions, the acquisition reduced
statutory earnings and stockholders’ equity at the date of
acquisition $51.4 million, the purchase price paid less
related tax benefits.

Stockholder dividends may not exceed statutory
unassigned surplus. Additionally, under Missouri law,
the Company must have the prior approval of the Missouri
Director of Insurance in order to pay a dividend exceeding
the greater of statutory net gain from operations for the
preceding year or 10 percent of statutory stockholders’
equity at the end of the preceding year. The maximum
payable in 2000 without prior approval is $41,902,000.



The Company believes these statutory limitations impose
no practical restrictions on its dividend payment plans.

The Company is required to deposit a defined amount of
assets with state regulatory authorities. Such assets had an
aggregate carrying value of $21,000,000 ($18,000,000 -
1998 and $36,000,000 - 1997).

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and
other comprehensive income which includes unrealized
gains or losses on securities available for sale and un-
funded pension liabilities as shown below.

                                                Unrealized    Unfunded
                                                Gain (Loss)      Pension
                                               on Securities    Liability      Total

1999:
Unrealized holding losses
  arising during the year $(172 801) ) (172 801)
Less:  Realized losses included
            in net income (2 527) ) (2 527)
Net unrealized losses (170 274) ) (170 274)
Decrease in unfunded
  pension liability –) 554) 554)
Effect on deferred
  acquisition costs 8 858) 8 858)
Deferred income taxes 56 495) (194) 56 301)

Other comprehensive income $(104 921) 360) (104 561)

1998:
Unrealized holding gains
  arising during the year $33 261) ) 33 261)
Less:  Realized gains included
            in net income 9 360) ) 9 360)
Net unrealized gains 23 901) ) 23 901)
Increase in unfunded
  pension liability $63 48–) (9 348) (9 348)
Effect on deferred
  acquisition costs (680) (680)
Deferred income taxes (8 127) 3 272) (4 855)

Other comprehensive income $15 094) (6 076) 9 018)

1997:
Unrealized holding gains
  arising during the year $63 486) ) 63 486)
Less:  Realized gains included
            in net income 8 318) ) 8 318)
Net unrealized gains 55 168) ) 55 168)
Effect on deferred
  acquisition costs (3 652) (3 652)
Deferred income taxes (18 031) ) (18 031)

Other comprehensive income $33 485) ) 33 485)

The accumulated balances related to each component of
accumulated other comprehensive income follow.

                                                                        Change in
                                                Unrealized       Unfunded
                                                Gain (Loss)         Pension
                                               on Securities       Liability      Total

End of 1997 $1136 448 –) 36 448)
Other comprehensive income
  (loss) for 1998 15 094 (6 076) 9 018)

End of 1998 51 542 (6 076) 45 466)
Other comprehensive income
  (loss) for 1999 (104 921) 360) (104 561)

End of 1999 $ (53 379) (5 716) (59 095)



REINSURANCE

                                                         1999         1998         1997

Life insurance in force (in millions):
    Direct $123 616) 23 261) 22 800)
    Ceded (5 483) (4 488) (3 375)
    Assumed 3 131) 3 380) 3 796)

        Net $121 264) 22 153) 23 221)

Premiums:
Life insurance:
    Direct $127 805) 128 584) 128 491)
    Ceded (29 255) (26 748) (26 262)
    Assumed 5 536) 6 674) 3 822)

        Net $104 086) 108 510) 106 051)

 Accident and health:
    Direct $161 885) 54 022) 55 022)
    Ceded (19 249) (11 581) (10 091)
    Assumed –) –) –)

        Net $142 636) 42 441) 44 931)

C)
Contract charges arise generally from directly issued
business. However contract charges also arise from a
block of business assumed during 1997 as described
below. Ceded benefit recoveries were $49,687,000
($57,048,000 - 1998 and $39,483,000 - 1997).

Old American has two coinsurance agreements. One
agreement reinsures certain whole life policies issued by
Old American prior to December 1, 1986. These policies
had a face value of $114,062,000 as of this year end. The
reserve for future policy benefits ceded under this agree-
ment was $46,741,000 ($49,041,000 - 1998). The second
agreement ceded $10.4 million of home health care
reserves in October 1998.

In 1997, Kansas City Life acquired a block of traditional
life and universal life-type products. As of this year end,
the block had $3.1 billion of life insurance in force
($3.4 billion - 1998). The block generated life insurance
premiums of $5,788,000 ($6,656,000 - 1998). Addition-
ally, in November 1999, the Company ceded its group
long-term disability reserves, totaling $5.2 million.

The maximum retention on any one life is $350,000 for
ordinary life plans and $100,000 for group coverage. A
contingent liability exists with respect to reinsurance,
which may become a liability of the Company in the
unlikely event that the reinsurers should be unable to
meet obligations assumed under reinsurance contracts.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

                                                                    1999              1998

Land $  1 766)  1 029)
Home office complex   21 404) 22 995)
Furniture and equipment   32 258)  30 238)

  54 428)  54 262)
Less accumulated depreciation (32 418) (31 826)

$22 010 ) 22 436)

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated
using the straight-line method. The home office is depre-
ciated over 25 to 50 years and furniture and equipment
over 3 to 10 years, their estimated useful lives.

NOTES PAYABLE

                                                                       1999            1998
Federal Home Loan Bank loan with
  various maturities and a weighted
  average variable interest rate,
  currently 5.62 percent, secured
  by specified securities $55 000 –

Commerce Bank unsecured revolving
  credit loan agreement providing a
  $20,000,000 line of credit with a
  variable interest rate, currently
  4.755 percent 2 500 –

UMB Bank unsecured revolving credit
  loan agreements providing a
  $40,000,000 line of credit with a
  variable interest rate, currently
  4.95 percent 12 000 –

$69 500 –

As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank with a
capital investment of $23,400,000, the Company has the
ability to borrow up to $55,000,000 from the bank. The
Company earns 6.35 percent on the capital investment in
the bank. All borrowing is used to enhance investment
strategies. Interest paid on all borrowings equaled
$1,135,000 ($717,000 - 1998 and $515,000 - 1997).



INVESTMENTS

Investment Revenues
Major categories of investment revenues are summarized as
follows.
                                                   1999            1998             1997
Investment income:
    Fixed maturities $157 766) 154 213) 154 393)
    Equity securities 9 378) 6 583) 7 288)
    Mortgage loans    27 608)   26 024) 23 984)
    Real estate    9 907)   9 587)  10 350)
    Policy loans   7 959)   8 098) 7 296)
    Short-term    3 639) 4 832) 3 612)
    Other  3 709)  3 948) 3 132)

 219 966) 213 285) 210 055)
Less investment expenses (17 963) (15 983) (16 991)

$202 003) 197 302) 193 064)

Realized gains (losses):
    Fixed maturities $X(2 714) 8 052) 4 778)
    Equity securities 126) 1 360) 3 702)
    Mortgage loans 1 500) –) –)
    Real estate 3 684) 2 014) 6 025)
    Other     264)    –)     –)

$ 12 860)   11 426)  14 505)

Unrealized Gains and Losses
Unrealized gains (losses) on the Company’s securities
 follow.
                                                   1999            1998            1997

Available for sale:
  End of year $1(86 647) 83 627) 59 726)
  Effect on deferred
    acquisition costs 4 526) (4 332) (3 652)
  Deferred income taxes 28 742) (27 753) (19 626)

$1(53 379) 51 542) 36 448)

  Increase (decrease) in
    net unrealized gains
    during the year:
      Fixed maturities $1(99 595) 18 701) 33 209)
      Equity securities (5 326) (3 607) 276)

$(104 921) 15 094) 33 485)

Held to maturity:
  End of year $(11(8 (36) 8 011) 5 834)

  Increase (decrease) in
    net unrealized gains
    during the year $((((8 047) 2 177) (1 775)

FAIR VALUE OF
     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts for cash, short-term investments and
policy loans as reported in the accompanying balance
sheet approximate their fair values. The fair values for
securities are based on quoted market prices, where
available. For those securities not actively traded, fair
values are estimated using values obtained from indepen-
dent pricing services or, in the case of private placements,
are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
using a current market rate applicable to the yield, credit
quality and maturity of the investments. Fair values for
mortgage loans are based upon discounted cash flow
analyses using an interest rate assumption 2 percent above
the comparable U.S. Treasury rate.

Fair values for the Company’s liabilities under investment-
type insurance contracts, included with accumulated
contract values for flexible annuities and with other
policyholder funds for supplementary contracts without life
contingencies, are estimated to be their cash surrender
values.

Fair values for the Company’s insurance contracts other
than investment contracts are not required to be disclosed.
However, the fair values of liabilities under all insurance
contracts are taken into consideration in the Company’s
overall management of interest rate risk, which minimizes
exposure to changing interest rates through the matching of
investment maturities with amounts due under insurance
contracts.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the financial
instruments follow.
                                           1999                           1998
                              Carrying        Fair         Carrying        Fair
                              Amount        Value        Amount       Value
Investments:
  Securities available
    for sale $2 115 183 2 115 183 2 195 111 2 195 111
  Securities held
    to maturity 107 606 107 570 115 504 123 515
  Mortgage loans 340 704 328 973 315 705 332 419

Liabilities:
  Individual and
    group annuities $743 438 724 908 793 068 767 537
  Supplementary
    contracts without
    life contingencies 21 216 21 216 21 899 21 899

The following Investments Note provides further details
regarding the investments above.



                                                                Amortized         Fair
                                                                     Cost            Value
Available for sale:
Due in one year or less $1 454 611 53 865
Due after one year through five years 439 949 426 273
Due after five years through ten years 516 096 497 165
Due after ten years 768 869 719 937
Mortgage-backed bonds 299 933 301 975

$2 079 458 1 999 215

Held to maturity:
Due in one year or less $1 413 053 13 143
Due after one year through five years 41 025 42 071
Due after five years through ten years 44 057 42 584
Due after ten years 9 471 9 772

$1 107 606 107 570

Sales of investments in securities available for sale,
excluding normal maturities and calls, follow.

                                                        1999          1998        1997

Proceeds $428 425 422 241 509 502
Gross realized gains 9 455 12 512 11 597
Gross realized losses 10 371 5 234 2 349

The Company does not hold securities of any corporation
and its affiliates which exceeded 10 percent of stock-
holders’ equity.

No derivative financial instruments are employed.

Mortgage Loans
The Company holds non-income producing mortgage
loans equaling $1,528,000 ($1,004,000 - 1998). Mortgage
loans are carried net of a valuation reserve of $7,000,000
($8,500,000 - 1998).

The mortgage portfolio is diversified geographically and
by property type as follows.

                                               1999                           1998
                                   Carrying       Fair         Carrying       Fair
                                    Amount      Value        Amount      Value
Geographic region:
  East north central $129 470) 28 250) 31 068) 32 373)
  Mountain 69 522) 67 325) 67 530) 71 397)
  Pacific 123 581) 119 375) 106 982) 112 461)
  West south central 30 708) 30 071) 33 044) 34 813)
  West north central 71 030) 68 703) 69 594) 73 157)
  Other 23 393) 22 249) 15 987) 16 718)
  Valuation reserve (7 000) (7 000) (8 500) (8 500)

$340 704) 328 973) 315 705) 332 419)

Securities
The amortized cost and fair value of investments in
securities at this year end follow.
                                                                     Gross
                                        Amortized         Unrealized          Fair
                                            Cost          Gains     Losses       Value
Available for sale:
Bonds:
  U.S.government $1 147 264 170 607 46 827
  Public utility 270 618 1 938 11 098 261 458
  Corporate 1 405 241 7 119 78 468 1 333 892
  Mortgage-backed 299 933 5 522 3 480 301 975
  Other 55 537 217 1 556 54 198
Redeemable
   preferred stocks 865 12 12 865

Fixed maturities 2 079 458 14 978 95 221 1 999 215
Equity securities 122 371 1 916 8 319 115 968

$ 2 201 829 16 894 103 540 2 115 183

Bonds held to maturity:
Public utility $2218 101 743 45 18 799
Corporate 83 429 1 282 2 127 82 584
Other 6 076 117 6 6 187

107 606 2 142 2 178 107 570

$2 309 435 19 036 105 718 2 222 753

The amortized cost and fair value of investments in
securities at last year end follow.

                                                                   Gross
                                        Amortized       Unrealized          Fair
                                            Cost         Gains    Losses      Value
Available for sale:
Bonds:
  U.S. government $1 145 079 1 747 381 46 445
  Public utility 294 016 15 850 1 946 307 920
  Corporate 1 321 368 66 176 13 151 1 374 393
  Mortgage-backed 278 657 10 942 618 288 981
  Other 70 224 3 216 441 72 999
Redeemable
  preferred stocks 3 631 121 128 3 624

Fixed maturities 2 012 975 98 052 16 665 2 094 362
Equity securities 98 509 6 184 3 944 100 749

2 111 484 104 236 20 609 2 195 111

Bonds held to maturity:
Public utility $12225 325 1 934 7 27 252
Corporate 87 302 6 267 511 93 058
Other 2 877 328 – 3 205

115 504 8 529 518 123 515

$2 226 988 112 765 21 127 2 318 626

The Company does not hold any non-income producing
fixed maturity securities.

The distribution of the fixed maturity securities’ contractual
maturities at this year end follows. However, expected
maturities may differ from these contractual maturities
since borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations.



Mortgage Loans (Continued)

                                               1999                           1998
                                   Carrying       Fair         Carrying       Fair
                                    Amount      Value        Amount      Value
Property type:
  Industrial $229 103) 221 036) 209 752) 220 474)
  Retail 19 510) 19 515) 22 847) 24 301)
  Office 81 540) 78 310) 74 633) 78 291)
  Other 17 551) 17 112) 16 973) 17 853)
  Valuation reserve (7 000) (7 000) (8 500) (8 500)

$340 704) 328 973) 315 705) 332 419)

The Company has commitments which expire in 2000 to
originate mortgage loans of $3,440,000.

No mortgage loans were foreclosed upon and transferred
to real estate investments during the year ($1,181,000 -
1998 and $3,189,000 - 1997).

No mortgage loans were acquired in the sale of real estate
assets during the year ($2,025,000 - 1998 and $4,299,000
- 1997).

Real Estate
Detail concerning the Company’s real estate investments
follows.
                                                                       1999            1998
Penntower office building, at cost:
    Land $(11 106)   1 106)
    Building   18 582)  18 244)
    Less accumulated depreciation   (10 881)  (10 340)
Foreclosed real estate, at lower of
    cost or net realizable value 4 655) 10 946)
Other investment properties, at cost:
    Land   6 110)  4 493)
    Buildings   36 710)  32 848)
    Less accumulated depreciation  (14 271) (13 457)

$(42 011)  43 840)

Investment real estate, other than foreclosed properties, is
depreciated on a straight-line basis. Penntower office
building is depreciated over 60 years and all other
properties from 10 to 35 years. Foreclosed real estate is
carried net of a valuation allowance of $1,519,000
($2,877,000 - 1998) to reflect net realizable value.

The Company held non-income producing real estate
equaling $3,483,000 ($6,099,000 - 1998).

PENSIONS AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company has pension and other postretirement
benefit plans covering substantially all its employees. The
defined benefits pension plan covers employees who were
age 55 or over with at least 15 years of vested service at
December 31, 1997. This plan’s benefits are based on
years of service and the employee’s compensation during
the last five years of employment. Employees have a cash
balance account consisting of credits to the account based
upon an employee’s years of service and compensation
and interest credits. As disclosed in the tables at right, the
amendment to change the plan to a cash balance plan in
1998 decreased the projected benefit obligation
$10,038,000. The closure of Sunset Life’s office in 1999
and significant retirements at Kansas City Life resulted in
the recognition of settlement and curtailment costs of
$3,562,000. The postretirement medical plans for the
employees, full-time agents and their dependents are
contributory with contributions adjusted annually. The
Company pays these medical costs as due and the plan
incorporates cost-sharing features. The postretirement life
insurance plan is noncontributory with level annual
payments over the participants’ expected service periods.
The plan covers only those employees with at least one
year of service as of December 31, 1997. The benefits in
this plan are frozen using the employees’ years of service
and compensation as of December 31, 1997. The tables at
the right outline the plans’ funded status and their impact
on the Company’s financial statements.

Non-contributory defined contribution retirement plans for
general agents and eligible sales agents provide supple-
mental payments based upon earned agency first-year
individual life and annuity commissions. Contributions to
these plans were $143,000 ($134,000 - 1998 and
$133,000 - 1997). A non-contributory deferred compensa-
tion plan for eligible agents based upon earned first-year
commissions is also offered. Contributions to this plan
were $609,000 ($724,000 - 1998 and $265,000 - 1997).

Savings plans for eligible employees and agents match
employee contributions up to 6 percent of salary and agent
contributions up to 2.5 percent of prior year paid commis-
sions. Contributions to the plan were $1,468,000
($1,485,000 - 1998 and $2,102,000 - 1997). Effective in
1998, the Company may contribute an additional profit
sharing amount up to 4 percent of salary depending upon
corporate profits. No profit sharing contribution was made
in 1998 or 1999.

A non-contributory trusteed employee stock ownership
plan covers substantially all salaried employees. The
Company has made no contributions to this plan since
1992.



The components of the net periodic benefits cost follow.
                                                                                          Pension Benefits                                      Other Benefits
                                                                               1999           1998           1997                 1999             1998           1997

Service cost $(2 760) 2 746) 3 150) 626) 615) 560)
Interest cost 7 673) 7 650) 7 823) 1 200) 1 194) 1 014)
Expected return on plan assets (9 067) (8 539) (7 776) (88) (90) (85)
Amortization of:
  Unrecognized net (gain) loss 1 014) 1 152) 582) 52) 76) (5)
  Unrecognized prior service cost (647) (769) 2) –) –) –)
  Unrecognized net transition asset (206) (206) (206) –) –) –)

Net periodic benefits cost $(1 527) 2 034) 3 575) 1 790) 1 795) 1 484)

For measurement purposes, a 10 percent annual increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed to
decrease gradually to 6 percent in 2004.

                                                                                                 Pension Benefits                                     Other Benefits
                                                                                           1999                     1998                         1999                    1998

Accumulated benefit obligation $188 405) 107 488) –) –)

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $102 869) 95 899) 1 614) 1 634)
Return on plan assets 934) 10 988) 82) 86)
Company contributions 2 400) 3 000) –) –)
Benefits paid (20 963) (7 018) (293) (106)

  Fair value of plan assets at end of year $185 240) 102 869) 1 403) 1 614)

Plan underfunding $(13 111) (7 678) (15 539) (17 194)
Unrecognized net loss 26 404) 22 488) 557) 3 653)
Unrecognized prior service cost (7 147) (9 257) –) –)
Unrecognized net transition asset (517) (824) –) –)

  Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $115 629) 4 729) (14 982) (13 541)

Amounts recognized in the
  consolidated balance sheet:
Accrued benefit liability $1(3 165) (4 619) (14 982) (13 541)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 8 794) 9 348) –) –)

  Net amount recognized $1(5 629) 4 729) (14 982) (13 541)

Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate 7.75) 7.00) 7.75) 7.00)
Expected return on plan assets 8.75) 9.00) 5.50) 5.50)
Rate of compensation increase 4.50) 4.50) –) –)

The assumed growth rate of health care costs has a significant effect on the amounts reported as the table below demonstrates.

                                                                                             One Percentage Point
                                                                                         Change in the Growth Rate
                                                                                         Increase              Decrease

Service and interest cost components $1 367) (301)
Postretirement benefit obligation 2 845) (2 429)

%

Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $110 547)) 119 651) 18 808)) 15 485)
Service cost 2 760)) 2 746) 626)) 615)
Interest cost 7 673)) 7 650) 1 200)) 1 193)
Plan amendments –)) (10 038) –)) –)
Curtailment 469)) –) (1 043)) –)
Settlement 5 375)) –) –)) –)
Net (gain) loss from past experience (3 921)) 637) (2 008)) 1 991)
Benefits paid (24 552)) (10 099) (641)) (476)

  Benefit obligation at end of year $198 351)) 110 547) 16 942) 18 808)



SEGMENT INFORMATION

                                                                                Kansas City Life                    Sunset               Old
                                                                           Individual          Group                 Life            American           Total
1999:
Revenues from external customers $2 113 399 53 311) 26 750  76 091 269 551
Investment revenues 152 338 1 083) 33 617  14 965 202 003
Segment income (loss) 30 622 (898)  8 049 5 413 43 186
Other significant noncash items:
  Increase in policy reserves 60 072 681) 16 411  8 042 85 206
  Amortization of deferred
    acquisition costs 12 443 –) 7 765  11 053 31 261
  Amortization of the value of
    purchased insurance in force 5 128 –) – 3 567 8 695
Interest expense 1 148 –) – – 1 148
Income tax expense 12 931 (385) 3 898 2 574 19 018

Segment assets 2 679 521 16 107) 528 708  396 948 3 621 284
Expenditures for other long-lived assets 3 742 214) 3 298 4 257

1998:
Revenues from external customers $2 112 898 52 537) 28 794  80 001 274 230
Investment revenues 150 328 1 146) 31 878  13 950 197 302
Segment income (loss) 27 918 (985)  8 954 5 198 41 085
Other significant noncash items:
  Increase in policy reserves 57 581 535) 16 269  10 042 84 427
  Amortization of deferred
    acquisition costs 16 861 –) 8 323  11 017 36 201
  Amortization of the value of
    purchased insurance in force 4 660 –) – 2 925 7 585
Interest expense 717 –) – – 717
Income tax expense 12 997 (422) 4 314 2 548 19 437

Segment assets 2 627 568 16 215) 538 254  395 377 3 577 414
Expenditures for other long-lived assets 2 658 259) 97 69 3 083

1997:
Revenues from external customers $2 590 759 53 698) 28 269  81 967 254 693
Investment revenues 146 610 1 216) 32 171  13 067 193 064
Segment income (loss) 24 704 (493)  8 259 2 963 35 433
Other significant noncash items:
  Increase in policy reserves 55 924 202) 16 768  13 910 86 804
  Amortization of deferred
    acquisition costs 15 138 –) 8 026  12 548 35 712
  Amortization of the value of
    purchased insurance in force 2 211 –) – 2 683 4 894
Interest expense 515 –) – – 515
Income tax expense 12 735 (212) 3 904 1 335 17 762

Segment assets 2 533 546 16 828) 517 423  371 655 3 439 452
Expenditures for other long-lived assets 2 326 473) 60 13 2 872

Enterprise-Wide Disclosures
                                                                                      1999            1998          1997
Revenues from external customers by line of business:
  Variable life insurance and annuities $211 153 6 928 2 062
  Interest sensitive products 97 720 101 680 91 651
  Traditional individual insurance products 97 616 103 171 101 332
  Group life and disability products 49 106 47 780 49 650
  Group ASO services 4 205 4 716 4 048
  Other 9 751 9 955 5 950

      Total $269 551 274 230 254 693



Company operations have been classified and summarized
into the four reportable segments at left. The segments,
while generally classified along Company lines, are based
upon distribution method, product portfolio and target
market. The Parent Company was divided into two seg-
ments. The Kansas City Life - Individual segment consists of
sales of variable life and annuities, interest sensitive
products and traditional life insurance products by a career
general agency sales force. The block of universal life and
traditional life insurance acquired in 1997 is included in
this segment. The Kansas City Life - Group segment consists
of sales of group life, disability and dental products and
administrative services only (ASO) by the Company’s career
general agency sales force and appointed group agents. The
Sunset Life segment consists of sales of interest sensitive
and traditional products by personal producing general
agents. The Old American segment markets whole life final
expense products to seniors through a general agency sales
force.

Separate investment portfolios are maintained for each of
the companies. However, investments are allocated to the
group segment based upon its cash flows. Its investment
revenue is modeled using the year of investment method.
Home office functions are fully integrated for the three
companies in order to maximize economies of scale.
Therefore, operating expenses are allocated to the segments
based upon internal cost studies which are consistent with
industry cost methodologies.

The totals at left agree to the selected financial data which
reconciles to the consolidated financial statements.
Intersegment revenues are not material. The Company
operates solely in the United States and no individual
customer accounts for 10 percent or more of the Company’s
revenue.



FEDERAL INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of the Federal income tax rate and the
actual tax rate experienced is shown below.

                                                                   1999      1998     1997

Federal income tax rate 35) 35) 35)
Special tax credits (5) (6) (6)
Other permanent differences –) –) (1)

Actual income tax rate 30)  29) 28)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to
significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities
are presented below.

                                                                        1999             1998

Deferred tax assets:
  Basis differences between tax and
    GAAP accounting for investments $ (26 774 –))
  Future policy benefits     $449 133 51 205))
 )Employee retirement benefits 11 990 14 999))
  Other 9 413 6 308))

Gross deferred tax assets 97 310 72 512))

Deferred tax liabilities:
  Capitalization of policy acquisition
    costs, net of amortization 44 809 42 487))
  Basis differences between tax and
    GAAP accounting for investments – 35 104))
  Property and equipment, net 3 841 1 792))
  Value of insurance in force 33 102 36 070))
  Other 841 798))

Gross deferred tax liabilities 82 593 116 251))

  Net deferred tax asset (liability) $414 717 ((43 739))

A "valuation allowance" must be established for any portion
of the deferred tax asset which is believed not to be
realizable. In management’s opinion, it is more likely than
not that the Company will realize the benefit of the net
deferred tax asset and, therefore, no valuation allowance
has been established.

Federal income taxes paid for the year were $17,884,000
($20,164,000 - 1998 and $14,335,000 - 1997).

Policyholders’ surplus, which is frozen under the Deficit
Reduction Act of 1984, is $40,500,000 for Kansas City Life,
$2,800,000 for Sunset Life and $13,700,000 for Old
American. The Companies do not plan to distribute their
policyholders’ surplus. Consequently, the possibility of such
surplus becoming subject to tax is remote, and no provision
has been made in the financial statements for taxes thereon.
Should the balance in policyholders’ surplus become
taxable, the tax computed at current rates would approxi-
mate $20,000,000.

%

%

QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED
   FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited)

                                          First       Second       Third       Fourth
1999:
Total revenues $118 777 115 690) 122 137 117 810

Operating income $112 241 7 256) 12 225 11 464
Realized gains, net 201 239) 1 197 222

Net income $112 442 7 495) 13 422 11 686

Per common share:
  Operating income $99111.99 .58) .99 .95
  Realized gains, net .01 .03) .10 .01

   Net income $ 1111.00 .61) 1.09 .96

1998:
Total revenues $117 615 124 799) 125 667 114 877

Operating income $118 098 11 492) 12 930 8 565
Realized gains net 1 643 1 582) 2 679 1 523

Net income $119 741 13 074) 15 609 10 088

Per common share:
  Operating income $19911.66 1.93) 1.04 1.68
  Realized gains net .13 .13) .22 .13

   Net income $ 1111.79 1.06) 1.26 1.81

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are defendants
in lawsuits involving claims and disputes with policy-
holders. It has become increasingly common for plaintiffs
in these cases to seek class action status and punitive
damages. Some of these lawsuits arise in jurisdictions that
permit punitive damages disproportionate to the actual
damages alleged. Although no assurances can be given
and no determinations can be made at this time as to the
outcome of any particular lawsuit or proceeding, the
Company and its subsidiaries believe that there are
meritorious defenses for these claims and are defending
them vigorously. In management’s opinion the amounts
ultimately paid, if any, would have no material effect on
the Company’s consolidated results of operations and
financial position.

Income taxed on a current basis is accumulated in “share-
holders’ surplus” and can be distributed to stockholders
without tax to the Company. Shareholders’ surplus equals
$388,267,000 for Kansas City Life, $85,411,000 for Sunset
Life and $57,668,000 for Old American.



REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Kansas City Life Insurance Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Kansas City Life Insurance Company
and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 1999
and 1998, and the related consolidated statements of
income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Kansas City Life
Insurance Company and subsidiaries at December 31,
1999 and 1998, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States.

Kansas City, Missouri
January 24, 2000



CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
3520 Broadway
Post Office Box 219139
Kansas City, Missouri 64121-9139
Telephone:  (816) 753-7000
Fax: (816) 753-4902
Internet: http://www.kclife.com
E-Mail: kclife@kclife.com

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at
9 a.m. Thursday, April 20, 2000, at Kansas City Life's
corporate headquarters.

TRANSFER AGENT
Cheryl Keefer, Assistant Secretary
Kansas City Life Insurance Company
Post Office Box 219139
Kansas City, Missouri 64121-9139

10-K REQUEST
Stockholders may request a free copy of Kansas City
Life’s Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, by writing to Secretary, Kansas
City Life Insurance Company.

SECURITY HOLDERS
As of February 2, 2000, Kansas City Life had approxi-
mately 725 security holders, including individual
participants in security position listings.

STOCK AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION
         Stock Quotation Symbol
       Over-the-Counter—KCLI

                                                      Bid               Dividend
                                             High         Low          Paid
                                                                         (per share)

1999:
First Quarter $43.82 39.25 $1.240
Second Quarter 42.75 43.00    .240
Third Quarter 52.25 34.50 .240
Fourth Quarter    40.00 32.75 .240

$1.960

1998:
First Quarter $48.75 41.00       $.225
Second Quarter    47.44 41.63 .225
Third Quarter    47.75 34.50 .225
Fourth Quarter    42.75 39.00 .225

$.900

The above has been restated to reflect a
 two-for-one stock split in June 1999.

A quarterly dividend of $.25 per share was paid
February 22, 2000.

Over-the-counter market quotations are compiled
according to Company records and may reflect inter-
dealer prices, without markup, markdown or commis-
sion and may not necessarily represent actual transac-
tions.

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION
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